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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCESTATEMENT OF COMPLIANCESTATEMENT OF COMPLIANCESTATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE    

Minister responsible for the Department of Culture and the ArtsMinister responsible for the Department of Culture and the ArtsMinister responsible for the Department of Culture and the ArtsMinister responsible for the Department of Culture and the Arts    

Dear Minister 

In accordance with Section 61 of the Financial Management Act 2006 I hereby submit, for your information and 
presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the Department of Culture and the Arts for the financial year ended 
30 June 2011.  This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 
2006 and all other legislation including: 

• Disability Services Act 1993 

• Electoral Act 1907 

• Equal Opportunity Act 1984 

• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 

• Public Sector Management Act 1994 

• State Records Act 2000. 

 
At the date of signing I am not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars included in the report 
misleading or inaccurate.  

 

Allanah Lucas 
Director General 

30 August 2011
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OVERVIEW OF THE AGENCYOVERVIEW OF THE AGENCYOVERVIEW OF THE AGENCYOVERVIEW OF THE AGENCY    

PROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENTPROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENTPROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENTPROFILE OF THE DEPARTMENT    

Who we are and what we do 
The Department of Culture and the Arts (known previously as the 
Department of the Arts and the Ministry for Culture and the Arts) 
has been operating under its current description and role since 
2001.  

The State Government established the Department to: 

• guide and implement Government policy 
• provide support and resources for the development and 

delivery of culture and the arts 
• align the services delivered by the culture and arts portfolio 

with Government policy objectives. 

The Department includes the operations of the State Records 
Office (SRO), which is responsible for managing the State’s 
archives and providing guidance across government in government 
record keeping. 

Our portfolio agreed outcomes 
The outcomes that we have agreed to deliver for the State 
Government are:  

• a creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts sector 
• Western Australia’s natural, cultural and documentary 

collections are managed, conserved and accessible.  

Our vision 

The Western Australian community is enriched by unique and 
transforming culture and arts experiences. 

Our values 
Imagination: valuing the creative application of knowledge and the 
courage inherent in seeking innovative solutions. 

Respect: valuing and acknowledging the diversity and complexities 
of the communities we serve. 

Professionalism: taking a skilled, collaborative and knowledge-
based approach to all our work. 

Integrity: acting ethically and responsibly in all our dealings and 
taking responsibility for our own behaviour. 

Our strategy 
The report on our agency’s performance (page 12) reflects the 
strategic focus outlined in the Department’s 2010-2014 strategic 
plan. 

As the State Records Office has a whole-of-government role, it has 
its own strategic plan.  A report on the SRO’s activities for the year, 
aligned to these separate strategic objectives, is included on page 
33 of this report. 
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THE CULTURE AND ARTS PORTFOLIOTHE CULTURE AND ARTS PORTFOLIOTHE CULTURE AND ARTS PORTFOLIOTHE CULTURE AND ARTS PORTFOLIO    

The Culture and Arts Portfolio (the portfolio) reflects the 
combination of the Department of Culture and the Arts (which 
includes the State Records Office of Western Australia) and the 
following agencies: 

• Art Gallery of Western Australia (a statutory authority)  
• Perth Theatre Trust (a statutory authority) 
• ScreenWest (an incorporated association)  
• State Library of Western Australia (a statutory authority)  
• Western Australian Museum (a statutory authority). 

The Department takes the lead in linking the portfolio to the 
Government’s policy framework as well as being the main contact 
point for the Minister for Culture and the Arts and central 
government agencies. The Department is headed by the Director 
General who employs all portfolio staff with the exception of the 
Chief Executive Officers of the statutory authorities.  

The portfolio agencies work to their boards and report through the 
Director General to the Minister for Culture and Arts and, ultimately, 
Parliament. While they each have a strategic plan to conduct their 
specialised business and produce annual reports, the Department 
measures performance at the whole-of-portfolio level. This is 
reflected in the Key Performance Indicators.  

Portfolio demographics 
The following tables summarise the portfolio’s employee 
demographics (based on individuals, not full-time employees 
[FTE]): 

Culture and Arts Portfolio demographics at 30 June 2011 

Employment Type Women Men 

Permanent Full-time 234 163 

Permanent Part-time 141 29 

Fixed Term Full-time 63 36 

Fixed Term Part-time 41 13 

Casual paid in previous 12 months 34 13 

Other paid in previous 12 months 14 6 

Total 527 260 

Demographics by organisation  

Department/Portfolio Organisation Women Men 

Department of Culture and the Arts 92 43 

Art Gallery of Western Australia 57 24 

Perth Theatre Trust 44 15 

ScreenWest 15 4 

State Library of Western Australia 163 65 

Western Australian Museum 156 109 

Total 527 260 
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DIRECTOR GENERAL’S FOREWORD DIRECTOR GENERAL’S FOREWORD DIRECTOR GENERAL’S FOREWORD DIRECTOR GENERAL’S FOREWORD 

The 2010/2011 financial year has been a defining one for the 
Department of Culture and the Arts and I am proud of the significant 
role we have played in delivering arts and cultural policy and more 
than $25 million in arts funding on behalf of the Government for the 
people of Western Australia. 

One of the most significant achievements of the reporting period 
was the opening of the State Theatre Centre of Western Australia in 
January 2011 – the culmination of many years of planning, 
consultation, design development and construction.  

This stunning building, designed by Kerry Hill Architects, heralds a 
new chapter for contemporary performing arts in our State and 
provides a world-class venue for performers, their audiences and 
the Western Australian community.   

The State Theatre Centre will be one of the venues featured as part 
of the Commonwealth Festival – a festival of arts and cultural 
activities to be held in the Perth Cultural Centre as part of the 
Commonwealth Heads of Government Meeting (CHOGM) in 
October 2011.  Planning has been underway since the end of 2010, 
with former Perth International Arts Festival Artistic Director 
Shelagh Magadza taking on the role of artistic director for the 
‘people’s festival’.  The Department has had an active role in 
managing the arts and cultural aspects of CHOGM on behalf of the 
State.  

This year was our first full reporting year since launching our 2010-
2014 strategic plan in late 2009 and we have made important 
progress towards achieving the outcomes we set for the future of 
Western Australian arts and culture.   

In particular, the launch and implementation of the Department’s 
Knowledge Management Strategy reflects our commitment to the 
effective management of our systems and processes and 
effectively positions the Department to be able to deliver on the 
outcomes of the Creating Value policy framework. 

In May 2011, I was pleased to be able to deliver our Priority 
Projects Progress Report to the sector and the community.  This 
shows how we are meeting the targets set in Creating Value and 
details our key projects, including the completion of the first stage 
of our funding process review, the pilot stage of the ‘ecology map’ 
and the delivery of strategy and governance training workshops for 
our funded organisations. 

Information about these priority projects is included in the Agency 
Performance section of this annual report and is also available on 
our website. 

In May 2011, the Government commenced a review of the Culture 
and Arts Portfolio, under the direction of Public Sector Commission 
management consultant David Wood.  The review addresses the 
effective delivery of services consistent with Government priorities; 
the management and maintenance of infrastructure (particularly the 
portfolio’s buildings); identification of possible synergies across the 
portfolio’s organisations; and the better application of Government 
resources and funding in support of culture and the arts.  
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The report is scheduled to be delivered to the Minister for Culture 
and the Arts for his consideration towards the end of 2011. 

Our achievements and progress this year would not have been 
possible without the commitment, energy and talent of those 
employed at the Department.  I thank all of my staff for their work 
and express my particular gratitude to Jacqui Allen (Deputy Director 
General), Eric Isailovic (Executive Director, General Operations), 
Cathrin Cassarchis (Director, State Records Office), the chief 
executives of the portfolio agencies and the Minister’s staff.  

I would also like to thank the Minister for Culture and the Arts, the 
Honourable John Day, for his support and commitment to and 
vision for a vital arts and cultural sector in this State. 

 

Allanah Lucas 
DIRECTOR GENERAL 
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HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEARYEARYEARYEAR    

• Opening of the State Theatre Centre of Western Australia in 
Northbridge in January 2011, a world-class performance venue 
that has been enthusiastically received by the Western Australian 
community.  

• Provision of more than $25 million in funding to support the 
delivery of both traditional and emerging art forms across the 
State, including: just over $17million core recurrent funding 
granted by the Department to 49 organisations whose level of 
service is critical to the development of the sector; and more than 
$8 million granted by peer and expert panels to 280 
organisations, individuals and projects across a wide range of 
artforms, including partnership initiatives such as $2 million to the 
West Australian Ballet Centre in Maylands and $1 million to the 
CHOGM Commonwealth Festival.  This represents an increase 
of around $3 million in funding from last year. 

• Delivery of strategy and governance workshops for Chairs and 
CEOs of arts and culture organisations to assist them in dealing 
with emerging challenges in the culture and arts environment; 
more than 70 per cent of the key funded organisations were 
represented at these workshops.  

• Signature of a new Memorandum of Understanding with the 
Department of Treasury and Finance for the State Government's 
Percent for Art Scheme. This scheme allocates up to one per 
cent of the cost of the State’s capital works and major 
infrastructure projects to the commissioning of public artworks, 
creating new opportunities for Western Australian artists and 
improving the aesthetic value of our public buildings.   

• Hosting of X|Media|Lab in partnership with ScreenWest and the 
WA Museum – Australia’s most prestigious workshop for 
professionals in the digital media industries – in Perth in April 
2011, attracting more than 350 delegates to explore the theme of 
storytelling in a digital age.   

• Completion of the first stage of a funding process review to 
consider the changing needs of both the sector and the 
community and the piloting of an Ecology Map – demonstrating 
the interactions between different aspects of the sector – that will 
better inform funding and policy decisions.  

• The implementation of the Solid Arts website to provide free legal 
advice and support to Indigenous artists and raise greater 
awareness among Indigenous communities, consumers and 
commercial operators of the need to protect Indigenous cultural 
and intellectual property. This is provided in association with the 
Cultural Ministers Council and the Arts Law Centre of Australia. 

• The development of an implementation plan with the Department 
of Regional Development and Lands for a $1.25 million 
performing arts touring boost for the regions.  

• Planning for the $2.45 million Commonwealth Festival, an eight-
day cultural festival showcasing the diversity of Western 
Australia and celebrating the people and cultures of the 
Commonwealth.  The Perth International Arts Festival (PIAF) has 
been commissioned to program and deliver this family-focused 
program, which will include exhibitions, performances and film 
screenings and will showcase the breadth and quality of 
Indigenous arts in the State.  
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VALUING ARTS AND CULTURE VALUING ARTS AND CULTURE VALUING ARTS AND CULTURE VALUING ARTS AND CULTURE     

The following information, which profiles how Western Australians 
relate to the culture and arts sector, was obtained from the 
Department’s annual Arts Monitor Survey conducted in March 
2011. A total of 400 individuals were interviewed by independent 
research company Patterson Market Research – 301 from the 
metropolitan area and 99 from regional Western Australia.  People 
aged 16 years and over were randomly selected within each 
household.    

Public attitudes to culture and the arts 

The survey results clearly indicate that Western Australians 
appreciate the significant contribution that arts and culture makes 
to a wide range of public value areas, including community 
wellbeing, cultural identity and education: 

• 97 per cent of respondents think it is important for school 
children to be able to learn music, painting, writing, drama 
and other artforms as part of their education 

• 87 per cent feel the arts play an important role in helping us 
understand our own culture and way of life and that of 
others 

• 84 per cent believe the Western Australian Government 
should invest in arts and cultural activities to ensure they are 
available to the public 

• 72 per cent consider all theatres, opera, ballet companies 
and public art galleries should not be made to survive on 
their ticket sales alone 

• 71 per cent believe the arts makes them feel good 

• 63 per cent feel the arts helps those who participate, as well 
as the broader community 

• 60 per cent believe the arts help them connect with and feel 
part of their community. 

Engagement with arts and culture activities 
Direct engagement in arts and cultural activities in Western 
Australia continued to be strong, with 92 per cent of respondents 
having attended at least one arts or cultural performance in the 12 
months prior to March 2011 and 96 per cent having attended at 
least one event or venue over the past two years. 

A comparison of the 2010 and 2011 survey results also showed 
that many culture and arts venues and events had higher visitation 
rates this year. The attendance by respondents at particular 
categories of events is indicated below:   

• popular music festival or concert (42 per cent) 

• art gallery (31 per cent)  

• theatre performance (27 per cent)  

• museum (27 per cent)  

• other arts or culture-related events or festivals (25 per cent). 

Visiting a public library continued to be the most common cultural 
activity (visited by 56 per cent of respondents) and the State 
Library of Western Australia was again the most frequently 
attended of the State’s cultural venues. 
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OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE     

The Department of the Arts was established under the Public 
Service Act 1978 on July 1, 1986 subsequent to the repeal of the 
Western Australian Arts Council Act 1973. On May 20, 1997 the 
name was changed to the Ministry of Culture and the Arts under 
the Public Sector Management Act 1994. On July 1, 2001 the 
name was re-designated to Department of Culture and the Arts 
under Section 35 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994 as a 
result of the Machinery of Government Review. 

 

The Department operates under the provisions of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994. In the performance of its functions, the 
Department complies with all relevant written laws. 

 

The Department leads in linking the Culture and Arts Portfolio to 
the Government’s framework (described on ‘insert page number 
when formatting’) and also provides subsidy and some 
administrative support to The Bell Tower, which is managed by the 
Swan Bells Foundation. The portfolio organisations and The Bell 
Tower have a statutory requirement to produce separate annual 
reports.  

 

The Minister for Culture and the Arts administers the following Acts 
relating to the statutory authorities within the portfolio: Art Gallery 
Act 1959; Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951; Museum 
Act 1969; and Perth Theatre Trust Act 1979. 

The Department is lead by the Director General and supported by 
the functions of the following areas: 

• the Office of the Director General 

• Development and Strategy Directorate 

• General Operations Directorate 

• State Records Office. 

The Office of the Director General – comprising the Corporate 
Affairs, Audit and Review, Ministerial Liaison and Government 
Relations areas – provides support to the Director General and 
takes primary responsibility for liaison with the Minister for Culture 
and the Arts and on cross government matters. This section is lead 
by the Director General, Allanah Lucas (see profile in Appendix A). 

The Development and Strategy Directorate, led by Deputy Director 
General Jacqui Allen, works with a range of stakeholders to 
coordinate arts and cultural policy development, distribution of 
funding, implementation of State and national strategic arts and 
cultural programs and specialised research. It also provides a link 
between the State Government, the arts and cultural sector and the 
community.  
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The General Operations Directorate, led by Executive Director Eric 
Isailovic, provides general corporate services for the Department 
and alignment with Government systems for portfolio 
organisations. This includes organisational performance, finance, 
human resources, information services, property development and 
management services.  

The State Records Office, led by Senior Archivist and Executive 
Director Cathrin Cassarchis, is responsible for the administration of 
the State Records Act 2000 which regulates whole-of-government 
recordkeeping and the management of the State archives 
collection. It supports the State Records Commission in the 
development of a regulatory framework for implementation of this 
Act, as well as providing consultancy, advice and training to State 
and local government organisations on compliance. It also provides 
public access to unrestricted archives in the State archives 
collection. 

A profile of the senior executive is detailed in Appendix A on page 
95.  
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK     

The portfolio achieves its Government Desired Outcomes through 
the delivery of seven key services. While the portfolio contributes 
to all of the Government’s Outcomes Based Service Delivery goals, 
its primary contribution is to the Government goal: “Greater focus 
on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of 
all Western Australians”. The figure below illustrates the 
relationship between the portfolio’s Desired Outcomes and the 
most relevant Government goal. 

Culture and the Arts Portfolio Outcome 
Structure 
Note: Services contributing to Outcome 2 also contribute to 
Outcome 1. 

Responsibilities of portfolio organisations 

Government Goal Desired Outcomes  Services 

Outcome 1: 

A creative, sustainable 
and accessible culture 
and arts sector 

Arts Industry Support 
Screen Production 
Industry Support  
Venue Management 
Services 

Greater focus on achieving 
results in key service areas 
for the benefit of all Western 
Australians 

Outcome 2:  

Western Australia’s 
natural, cultural and 
documentary collections 
are preserved, accessible 
and sustainable 

Art Gallery Services 
Library and Information 
Services 
Museum Services 
Government 
Recordkeeping and 
Archival Services 

The portfolio’s services are delivered by the Department (including 
the State Records Office) and the five portfolio organisations. 
Responsibilities for the provision of services are as follows. 

Portfolio Service Providers 

Portfolio Service Service Provider 

Arts Industry Support Department of Culture and the Arts 

Screen Production Industry Support ScreenWest 

Venue Management Services Perth Theatre Trust 

Art Gallery Services Art Gallery of Western Australia 

Library and Information Services State Library of Western Australia 

Museum Services Western Australian Museum 

Government Recordkeeping and 
Archival Services 

State Records Office 
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DEPARTMENT OF CULTURE AND THE ARTS DEPARTMENT OF CULTURE AND THE ARTS DEPARTMENT OF CULTURE AND THE ARTS DEPARTMENT OF CULTURE AND THE ARTS     

The Department of Culture and the Arts operates in a rapidly 
shifting environment and is sensitive to the needs of the global 
economy and evolving technologies as well as the community’s 
changing expectations about the ways it wants to engage with the 
culture and arts sector.  

In 2009, the Department refreshed its vision and strategic 
directions to reflect these new opportunities and challenges. Its 
renewed vision is to provide all Western Australians with unique 
and transforming culture and arts experiences that connect them 
with their history and their culture and enable them to share their 
experiences and stories. 

The strategic plan for 2010-2014 Creating and Delivering 
Government Policy for Culture and the Arts identifies the key 
drivers of the Department’s success in this regard, namely: 

• the effective management of  knowledge systems 

• the delivery of public value for arts and culture investments 

• a clearer articulation of the way the Department engages 
with a wide range of stakeholders to achieve its goals 

• a broadening of its approach to infrastructure provision to 
take advantage of the opportunities for increased public 
access offered by new technologies.  

While providing a strengthened focus for the Department’s 
activities, the strategic plan continues to support the outcomes that 
the Department had previously agreed to deliver for the State 
Government, namely: 

• a creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts 
sector 

• Western Australia’s natural, cultural and documentary 
collections are managed, conserved and accessible.  

There have consequently been no changes to the key performance 
indicators.  
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knowledge is essential to our business knowledge is essential to our business knowledge is essential to our business knowledge is essential to our business     

The Department relies on a large number of knowledge assets that 
are essential to the delivery of services. Processes, systems and 
behaviours for more effectively retaining and sharing these vital 
knowledge assets will be essential to the Department achieving its 
vision.  

Improving information exchange and 
accountability 

Knowledge Management Strategy  

The Department’s Knowledge Management Strategy, launched by 
the Director General in May 2011, aims to address gaps in 
organisational capability through better use of its people, its 
processes, its information and its technology. 

The Strategy was developed by the Organisational Performance 
team following research into theoretical concepts around 
knowledge management and approaches taken by other 
organisations. The team also obtained feedback from 
Departmental staff through a knowledge audit survey and the co-
ordination of a Knowledge Management Working Group charged 
with identifying potential knowledge management initiatives.  Four 
projects have been identified as foundation projects: 

• the roll-out of the Electronic Document System (TRIM) and 
digitisation of certain categories of documents to facilitate 
greater access 

• upgrades to the Department’s Internet and Intranet 

• the development of an Information Systems Strategic Plan 
which aligns closely with the Knowledge Management 
Strategy 

• the development of an Online Grants Management System.   

All of these projects have been endorsed by the Executive 
Leadership Team and are being implemented under the Project 
Management Framework.  A Knowledge Management Champions 
Group has been given responsibility for the implementation of the 
Knowledge Management Strategy and will review progress 
annually.   

Project Management Framework 

The Project Management Framework (PMF) was implemented in 
April 2010 to ensure that new services and products are approved, 
planned and monitored in a consistent and effective manner, in line 
with strategic objectives and priorities. The PMF intranet site, 
which provides Departmental staff with project templates and other 
necessary management tools and resources, continued to be 
refined throughout the year.   

A Project Register records and monitors existing projects and is 
updated monthly. The Department had 81 projects in operation 
throughout the 2010/2011 financial year. 
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The DCA Project Management Steering Committee is part of the 
governance structure of the PMF and is jointly chaired by the 
Executive Director General Operations and the Deputy Director 
General.  This group has the role of evaluating, prioritising and 
overseeing all Department projects.  

Planning and Budgeting Framework 

The Department’s Planning and Budgeting Framework was 
implemented in June 2011 to ensure an effective planning process 
for the organisation.  The Framework identifies: 

• planning and budgeting roles and responsibilities 

• minimum standards to be followed in the development, 
review and monitoring of strategic, business and operational 
plans, in addition to the budgeting process 

• timeframes for the integration of the Department’s business 
planning cycles with the annual budget timeline to enable 
full alignment with whole-of-government planning and 
budgeting requirements. 

Funding process review 

Stage one of the Department’s Funding Process Review – which is 
considering how the Department can best respond to the changing 
needs of both the sector and the community through its funding 
activities – continued in 2010/2011.  A report containing 13 
recommendations in relation to the efficiency and effectiveness of 
the Department’s funding programs was delivered in October 2010 
and is currently being considered by the Department. The second 
stage of the review commenced in May 2011 with the tendering of 
services to develop a Public Value Measurement Framework. This 
framework is intended to better measure the public value created 

through the Department’s delivery of policy, research, funding, 
services and support.  

Acquittal data review  

Individuals and groups who receive grants from the Department 
are required to provide a written account of how these funds have 
been spent and what artistic outcomes their funded project has 
achieved. These funding acquittal reports include information on 
income and expenditure, the number of staff employed by the 
project, the public response to the project and lessons learnt by the 
project managers.  

Last year, the Department commissioned the Australian Bureau of 
Statistics to undertake an acquittal data review to determine how 
this important knowledge asset could be more effectively shared 
and used to report on public value outcomes. The review, which 
was completed in September 2010, outlined a number of 
recommendations for the collection of acquittal data, which will be 
taken into the second stage of the Department’s Funding Process 
Review.  

The review has recommended a number of improvements to the 
design and application of acquittal forms and collection processes. 
This will help ensure that standardised data is collected and 
managed to better demonstrate the value of the Government’s 
investment in culture and arts activities. 
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Website management 

The Department undertook a full website redesign and 
development process to enable improved public access to the 
Department’s work and its grant and support services. The new 
website process has been managed by the Web Systems 
Manager, a part-time position that became full-time in February 
2011.  

Intergen, a software development company in Perth, was engaged 
as an external provider for the website development. Using the 
EPIServer platform, it has provided a user-friendly interface for the 
end user and an intuitive and simple content management system 
for staff. The new website went live in May 2011 and is operating 
successfully. 

Ecology Map 

During the year, the Department commissioned economics and 
management consultancy group Pracsys to develop an ‘Ecology 
Map’ to document the interactions and relationships between 
different areas within the culture and arts sector. This is intended to 
better inform the Department’s policy decisions. A pilot project to 
test the research methodology was completed within the dance 
sector and Pracsys are developing options for completing the 
mapping of networks and relationships within the rest of the sector 
in 2011. 
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At the heart of the Department’s vision is the goal of enriching the 
arts and cultural experiences of the WA community. Value is 
gained through the unique and transforming qualities of these 
experiences, leading to engaged citizens and the delivery of both 
economic and social benefits to the State.  

Continuing conversations about public value 

In March 2010, the Department launched its public value ‘blueprint’ 
– Creating Value: An Arts and Culture Sector Policy Framework 
2010-2014. This document outlines the Department’s principles, 
outcomes and strategies for ensuring that all of its activities deliver 
value to the community. Priority projects are nominated each year 
that will help drive this plan.   

Public value is regarded, in this context, as the social and 
economic benefits created by arts and culture for the Western 
Australian community. This value operates at many levels:  
individuals gain value from culture and the arts through enrichment 
from transformative arts experiences (whether as a participant, 
spectator or creator); the community gains value from access to 
more citizens with increased creativity, imagination, skills and 
knowledge; and the State gains value from the creation of an 
environment in which people increasingly want to live, work and 
visit, and which also delivers economic and social benefits.  

Throughout the year, the Department continued to promote 
discussion and debate on the public value created by the support 
and delivery of culture and arts experiences to the Western 
Australian community, and the role that different organisations can 
play. As part of its public speakers program, for example, the 
Department arranged for renowned public value expert, John 

Alford (Professor of Public Sector Management at the Australia and 
New Zealand School of Government) to deliver a presentation to its 
funded organisations. Professor Alford provided great insight into 
the delivery of public value for government and not-for-profit 
organisations and promoted open discussion amongst the 
audience. 

This discussion on public value was continued through meetings 
between the Department’s Development and Strategy Directorate 
and the boards and management of funded organisations. These 
meetings focused on how concepts of creativity and engagement 
can be advanced in a public value setting. 

Throughout 2010/2011, the Department also hosted a series of 
strategy and governance seminars, designed to assist boards and 
organisations to deal with the challenges of delivering value in 
changing environmental conditions. Barrington Consulting Group 
was engaged to deliver the five-part series, which was attended by 
more than 70 per cent of the Department’s funded arts and cultural 
organisations. The seminars provided an opportunity for all board 
members and executive staff to network, debate the respective 
roles of arts organisations and government, and benefit from 
focused time to consider their board’s role and contribution. The 
series covered such diverse topics as ‘Artistic Vibrancy Versus 
Financial Sustainability’, ‘The Role of Boards in Arts and Culture’, 
‘Strategy, Risk and Performance’ and ‘Decision Making within the 
Art Organisation’. 
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Funding principles and processes  
Programs supported by the Department increasingly reflect the 
priority public value principles that underpin the new Creating 
Value policy framework. These principles embrace a range of 
existing and emerging needs identified during the course of the 
policy framework’s extensive preliminary research and are 
summarised under the broad headings of ‘creativity’ and 
‘engagement’. 

 

Peer and expert assessment 

The peer assessment process, which has been used to assess 
funding applications since the formation of the Department in 1986, 
is guided by the ‘arm’s length’ principle that ensures that funding 
decisions are made without government or political interference. 
The peer assessment panels consist of practising artists, arts 
workers, arts managers and individuals who have the relevant 
knowledge and experience to thoroughly assess the applications. 
These are judged on the basis of artistic merit, good planning and 
financial responsibility to deliver the best value to the public. 
Membership of the panel pool, which is invited every three years, is 
approved by the Minister for Culture and the Arts and endorsed by 
Cabinet.  

The peer assessment process applies to the: 

• Arts Development panel 

• Indigenous Arts panel 

• Young People and the Arts (including Quick Response) 
panel 

• Contemporary Music (including Quick Response) panel  

• Designer Fashion (including Quick Response) panel 

• Artflight panel (this panel assesses requests for financial 
support to attend interstate or international events). 

 

In addition, the Department seeks advice from external experts on 
a range of other funding programs such as the regionally-focused 
Looking Forward Fund and the Artist-in-Residence (AiR) Grants 
program. 

 

Sector funding and support 2010/2011 
The Department provided funding to support a range of 
organisations and individuals throughout the year, as summarised 
below. 



 

DEPARTMENT OF CULTURE AND THE ARTS ANNUAL REPORT 2010/2011 Page 18 of 95 

Peer and expert panels 

During 2010/2011, funding of $8,065,163 was provided to 280 
organisations, individuals and projects. Distribution was as follows: 

• Creative Development fellowships - $180,000 across three 
recipients  

• Dance - $165,633 across four recipients 

• Multi arts - $104,689 across three recipients 

• Music - $123,875 across six recipients 

• Theatre - $338,244 across 14 recipients 

• Visual arts - $397,528 across 18 recipients 

• Visual Arts and Crafts Mid Career Fellowships - $50,000 
across two recipients 

• Writing - $142,529 across eight recipients 

• Young People and the Arts, including Quick Response, 
Youth Fellowships and Scholarships - $277,775 across 28 
recipients  

• Indigenous Arts Panel - $215,508 across 15 recipients 

• Contemporary Music, including Quick Response - $343,166 
across 41 recipients 

• Designer Fashion, including Fashion Flight - $201,195 
across 28 recipients 

• Looking Forward - $885,223 over two rounds  

• Artflight - $194,087 across 68 recipients 

• Artist in Residence Initiative - $99,952 to one recipient 

• Collections funding - $120,000 to one recipient 

• Ignite commitments: Orchestral services and Premier’s Book 
Awards - $324,691 

• Partnership and Policy Initiatives (including WA Ballet 
Centre capital funding) - $3,582,443 

• Regional touring funding - $318,625. 

Recurrent funded organisations and activities 

During the year, $17,007,364 was provided as core recurrent 
funding to 49 organisations for the operational and artistic costs of 
delivering an agreed level of service. This figure included 
indexation of 1.8 per cent. Of this funding $6,555,163 (39 per cent) 
was provided to the major performing arts companies:  

Major Performing Arts Company Funding Granted 

West Australian Opera  $1,742,139 

West Australian Symphony Orchestra $1,942,229 

Black Swan Theatre Company $1,301,374 

West Australian Ballet $1,569,421 

Total  $6,555,163 

In 2011 and 2012, the West Australian Ballet will continue to 
receive an additional allocation of $1.2 million per annum to assist 
the company to increase the number of performance seasons each 
year and the size of its ensemble. The State Government 
announced a further $2 million to assist with the relocation of the 
company to Maylands. In addition, $179,691 in orchestral support 
funding was provided to commission the West Australian 
Philharmonic Orchestra to support the 2010 season Gala.  The 
West Australian Symphony Orchestra received $56,816 under the 
Orchestra Review Funding designed to improve artistic standards 
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and maintain orchestra sizes. An additional $165,000 was 
allocated to offset rehearsal costs at the Perth Concert Hall. 

Funding highlights by artform 

Contemporary interdisciplinary and multi arts 

During the year, the Department further implemented its plan to 
support new forms of creative work, through the funding of a 
number of interdisciplinary arts programs. Core funding was 
provided to:  

Artrage $317,030 

Fremantle Arts Centre $650,989 

PICA $651,341 

Total $1,619,360 

Some of the innovative projects receiving support this year 
included: 

• X|Media|Lab, Australia’s most prestigious think tank and 
workshop for professionals in the digital media industries. 
The Department contributed $50,000 towards the hosting of 
the X|Media|Lab international conference in Perth in April, 
with a further $40,000 contributed by portfolio organisation, 
the Western Australian Museum. Around 360 delegates 
attended the ‘Storytelling in a digital age’ conference, with a 
‘lab’ component allowing organisations to work one-on-one 
with international mentors to develop interactive storytelling 
projects to be commercialised for international markets. 
Three projects, including one from the Western Australian 
Museum, were selected for further development.  

• Sound Chamber, a sound art project launched as a result of 
the iArts 2 partnership between the Department, Screenwest 
and ABC TV online. Sound Chamber incorporated a 
downloadable application, website and the physical 
installation of a large, inflatable dome where audiences 
interacted with sounds provided by online users. Outcomes 
of the collaboration were distributed via social media. The 
project attracted national media coverage. 

• The Department also entered into a new three-year 
agreement with PVI Collective ($65,000 per annum) to run 
CIA Studios in Newcastle Street, Perth, providing artists with 
the opportunity to share skills, engage in critical peer 
support and create new work by encouraging rigorous 
approaches to research and development. CIA will host a 
seminal national residency program for emerging and 
established artists incorporating fellowships, thinkers-in-
residence, research and networking services. Matched 
funding of $12,500 has also been provided by the 
Department and the Australia Council to support CIA to be a 
host organisation for the Geeks in Residence Pilot program 
that aims to support technically confident artists or 
technicians to assist arts organisations to develop their 
digital skills.  

• Funding of $1 million was also provided to the Perth 
International Arts Festival to program and deliver the 
Commonwealth Festival as part of CHOGM in October 2011. 
This eight-day cultural festival will showcase the diversity of 
Western Australia and include exhibitions, performances 
and film screenings.  
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Contemporary music 

Core recurrent funding of $320,138 was provided to the WA Music 
Industry Association Inc for peak body services to the sector, while 
the Contemporary Music Grants Program continued to assist 
musicians and music businesses to access commercial markets for 
their products, to develop skills and infrastructure and build new 
audiences for Western Australian music. This year, the program 
supported 41 projects to a total of $343,166. Highlights included: 

 

Johannes Luebbers Dectet received $10,000 for the recording of 
the group’s second album ‘The Exquisite Corpse of Beethoven’. 
The album received critical acclaim and the track ‘Ashes to Ashes’ 
from the album won Jazz Work of the Year at the 2011 Arts Music 
Awards.  

 

Pop duo Tim and Jean received $5,000 through the Contemporary 
Music Quick Response program to tour nationally as part of the 
2010 Future Music Festival. From this opportunity the band were 
invited to support highly successful American musician and DJ 
Moby on his Australian tour and have since signed to Universal 
Music for the distribution of their debut release ‘Like What’.  

 

Designer fashion 

The Department continued to support the designer fashion sector 
through the Designer Fashion Grants Program that distributed a 
total of $201,195 to 28 projects in 2010/2011. 

In response to the review of the grants program undertaken in 
2009/2010, a new ‘sector development’ funding category was 
added, providing up to $30,000 funding for strategies that support 
the growth of Western Australia’s designer fashion industry.   

Highlights of this sector-building funding included: 

 

• support for the From Here to There exhibition, which 
showcased eight Western Australian fashion designers 
during the 2011 L’Oreal Melbourne Fashion Festival.  

• support for two applicants to attend Summer School at the 
Paris American Academy in France. These placements were 
awarded by an international competition through the 
International Textile Apparel Association. 

 

A total of $200,000 was also provided for the 2010 Perth Fashion 
Festival, enabling a total of 160 Western Australian fashion 
designers to showcase their collections to the general public 
through the Designer Collections Showcases, Popsicle and 
Fremantle Fashion Collective Exhibition.  

 

The Department also invested $8,500 in the Textile Exchange 
project, supporting the development of work by Japanese and 
Western Australian textile artists for presentation at the Hyogo 
Museum of Art in Japan and at the Western Australian Museum.  
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Performing arts 

Core recurrent funding was provided to 10 performing arts 
companies:  

Ausdance WA $169,293 Dance 

Deckchair Theatre $300,547 Theatre 

Performing Arts Centre Society 
(The Blue Room) $229,368 Theatre 

Perth Theatre Company $457,864 Theatre 

Perth Jazz Society $24,655 Music 

Jazz WA (Jazz Coordination 
Association of WA) $61,049 Music 

Stages $75,137 Theatre 

STRUT Dance $124,591 Dance 

ThinIce Contemporary Theatre 
Company $72,679 Theatre 

Tura New Music $236,075 Music 

Total  $1,751,258  

The Department also provided a total of $627,752 funding to 24 
performing arts organisations and individuals through the Arts 
Development Panel and $78,430 to 29 performing recipients 
through the Artflight Panel.  This included support for 11 dance 
practitioners to attend the National Dance Forum in Melbourne in 
March 2011. 

In addition to their core recurrent funding, Ausdance WA and 
STRUT Dance were awarded grants of $300,000 and $220,000 
respectively to deliver on key recommendations made in the 2007 
Future Moves report. Ausdance WA is a membership organisation 
that provides a variety of services to its members and the Western 

Australian community. STRUT Dance services include training for 
professional dancers, supporting the development of new work and 
audience development.  

Achievements from both these contract arrangements include the 
development of a marketing plan to attract new audiences to 
contemporary dance, targeted support to regionally-based dancers 
and new partnerships to support Aboriginal contemporary dance. 
The Department also awarded Dawn Jackson a $30,000 Dance 
Mid Career Fellowship through the Future Moves Strategy. 

 

The Department is in the final year of a three-year relationship with 
the Australia Council for the Arts to support Performing Lines WA 
through the Managing and Producing Services (MAPS) initiative. 
Performing Lines WA is a dedicated production support company 
that enables artists and companies to focus on the creative aspects 
of their work. It currently produces and manages selected Western 
Australian theatre and dance groups, enabling them to create, 
present and tour their work more effectively within the State, 
Australia and internationally. Funding for this initiative is $180,000 
from the Department and $50,000 from the Australia Council for 
the Arts per annum. 

 

The Department also awarded funding of $52,220 to Theatre 
Kimberley to deliver its annual program of circus and performance 
development in Broome and across the Kimberley region. On the 
performance writing front, PlayWrighting Australia received 
$20,000 to deliver its annual program of services for the 
development and promotion of new writing in theatre and the 
Australian Script Centre received $12,000 for its annual program of 
activities. 
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Visual arts and craft 

The Department continued to nurture the visual arts and craft 
sector through the provision of recurrent core funding and the 
support of 49 organisations and individuals. Recurrent core funding 
was provided to five visual arts organisations, to the value of 
$1,291,285: 

Art On The Move  $427,774 

Artsource $395,763 

Arts Law $5,192 

Form    $270,023 

International Art Space Kellerberrin $192,533 

Total $1,291,285 

A further 18 organisations and individuals were provided with 
funding for visual arts and craft through the Arts Development 
Panel (to a total of $397,528), and $73,304 was provided to 21 
individuals through the Artflight Panel. The Department also 
provided two grants of $25,000 through the Visual Arts and Crafts 
Mid Career Fellowships program while three visual artists received 
Creative Development Fellowships of $60,000 each. 

In addition, $50,000 was provided to assist five Western Australian 
art galleries to participate in the 2012 Melbourne Art Fair 
(Indigenart Mossenson Gallery, Perth Galleries, Gallery East, 
Turner Gallery and Goddard de Fiddes) and $10,000 was provided 
for costs associated with the attendance of a Western Australian 
Emerging Curator at the Venice Biennale in 2011.  

Writing  

The Department provided core recurrent funding to three Western 
Australian writing organisations:  

 

Fremantle Arts Centre Press $286,166 

Australian Writers' Guild $14,792 

Writing WA $128,028 

TOTAL $428,986 

 

During the year, the Arts Development Panel provided a total of 
$142,529 to eight organisations to support their writing 
development. This included supporting the University of Western 
Australia’s Westerly Centre with $39,250 to publish two issues of 
the Westerly literary journal, and providing $25,695 to the 
Katharine Susannah Prichard Foundation to deliver their annual 
program of residencies, skills workshops and manuscript 
assessment to young, emerging and established writers. In 
addition, the Artflight program provided a total of $9,731 to three 
individuals to assist with travel costs. Other highlights included 
providing $27,570 to graphic novelist Justin Randall to write and 
illustrate a new work, and $14,200 to Dianne Wolfer to complete 
and edit her novel Light Horse Boy.  The Department also 
contributed $100,000 to the Western Australian Premier’s Book 
Awards, with the winners to be announced in September 2011.  
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Funding for special interest groups 

Disability and the arts 

The Department funds Disability in the Arts, Disadvantage in the 
Arts WA (DADAA) on a recurrent basis, providing $114,684 to the 
organisation in 2010/2011. DADAA is Western Australia’s peak 
organisation in the area of disability and the arts and has a regional 
focus in the Kimberley and in Esperance.  

During the year, the Department launched Open Arts, a publication 
recognising the significant achievements of the Disability and Arts 
Inclusion Initiative (DAII) partners, as part of a four-year 
partnership with the Disability Services Commission (DSC). Open 
Arts highlights nine inclusive projects by arts and disability 
community groups working in partnership to create accessible and 
welcoming events for people with disabilities. Negotiations are 
underway for a new Memorandum of Understanding with DSC with 
the focus on implementing the National Arts and Disability 
Strategy. 

Indigenous art 

The Department provided core recurrent funding to four indigenous 
organisations to the value of $655,966:  

Magabala Books $209,437 

Yirra Yaakin Noongar Theatre $296,412 

Goolarri Media $75,117 

Kimberley Aboriginal Law & Culture Centre $75,000 

Total $655,966 

 

Throughout the year, the Indigenous Arts Panel provided a total of 
$215,508 to 15 organisations and individuals.   

 

The Department’s Indigenous Arts Grants Program supported arts 
and cultural activities including artform development, cultural 
maintenance and interstate and international touring to 
organisations, small groups and individuals. Almost half this 
investment was made in either regional or remote areas.  

 

The Department also funded a number of non-Indigenous 
organisations to deliver programs to Indigenous communities. For 
example, the Department is contributing $300,000 over three years 
to the Western Desert Kidney Health Project, launched in October 
2010 and managed by the Rural Clinical School of WA. Already, 
community engagement projects have been completed in 
Coolgardie, Norseman and Menzies and will continue this year in 
Leonora, Laverton, Mt Magnet, Mulga Queen, Tjuntjunjara and 
Coonana.  
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Young people and the arts 
The Department provides funding to encourage young people to 
participate in and explore a broad range of arts and cultural 
activities. Core recurrent funding was provided to 13 performing 
arts companies with a youth focus, including:  

Buzz Dance Theatre  $289,042 

STEPS Youth Dance Company $107,147 

Awesome Festival $193,376 

Propelarts $123,020 

Southern Edge Arts $72,679 

WA Youth Music $176,101 

Musica Viva $29,350 

WA Youth Jazz Orchestra $51,913 

Barking Gecko $415,600 

Spare Parts $387,893 

WA Youth Theatre Company $78,104 

Children's Book Council $31,148 

Fremantle Children’s Literature Centre $61,091 

Total $2,016,464 

The Department’s Young People and the Arts Grants Program 
supports arts activities by, with and for young people aged 26 
years and under. During the year the Department provided funding 
totalling $277,775 in support of 28 activities, and supported 10 
applicants to take advantage of career-building opportunities 
through its Quick Response Program (to a total of $35,341). 

The $30,000 annual Young People and the Arts International 
Scholarship was awarded to Scott Craig to complete a Diploma of 
Collegial Studies in Circus Arts, at the Ecole Nationale de Cirque 
(National Circus School) in Montreal, Canada, while three $15,000 
Young People and the Arts Fellowships were awarded to performer 
Russell Leonard, visual artist Holly Pepper and craftsman 
Alexander Fossilo.  

The Department also contributed $50,000 to the Western 
Australian component of the 2011 JUMP national mentoring 
program, targeted at artists aged 18 to 30 who are in the first five 
years of their professional practice. The program is supported by 
the Australia Council for the Arts, managed nationally by Youth 
Arts Queensland and delivered in collaboration with state partners.  

Regional and community arts  

The Department provided core recurrent funding to three regional 
and community membership and service organisations to the total 
value of $1,928,872:  

Community Arts Network $523,201 

Country Arts WA $1,234,734 

Kulcha $170,937 

  Total $1,928,872 

In September 2010, the Department signed a further four-year 
funding partnership with the Department of Regional Development 
and Lands, designed to improve access by regional communities to 
the State’s major performing arts companies. The $1.2 million 
partnership will ensure that all nine regions of the State have 
access to the West Australian Ballet, West Australian Opera, West 
Australian Symphony Orchestra and Black Swan State Theatre 
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Company. A total of $318,625 was awarded in 2010/2011 to the 
major performing arts companies for regional arts touring: 

West Australian Ballet Company  $195,000 

West Australian Opera Company  $26,375 

West Australian Symphony Orchestra  $50,000 

Black Swan State Theatre Company  $47,250 

Total $318,625 

In addition, the Department provided $15,000 to the Black Swan 
State Theatre Company to pilot simulcasting of its production of A 
Midsummer Night’s Dream across the State. 

Looking Forward Fund 

The Department distributed $885,223 over two rounds towards the 
development and implementation of strategic regional arts and 
culture projects through the Looking Forward Fund. The Fund aims 
to improve access and participation in arts and cultural activity and 
find new ways to support arts and cultural development in regional, 
rural and remote communities.   

Projects funded in 2010/2011 included: 

• $174,320 towards ‘Give Them Wunan’, a multi layered arts 
project teaching and documenting Kimberley stories and 
song and dance for future generations  

• $211,837 towards Jandamarra Returns, a play to be 
presented in four unique Kimberley locations  

• $179,066 towards Future Landings, a series of 
contemporary dance works in four South West and Great 
Southern communities. This is intended to lead to the 
formation of a regional contemporary dance network and an 

arts health partnership program targeting people with mental 
illness or disability in Esperance.  

Devolved funding 
The Department contracts a number of non-government 
organisations to manage the allocation and distribution of funding 
on its behalf. The objectives are to ensure the optimal use of 
funding to deliver the best arts development outcomes through the 
most applicable organisational infrastructure. Devolvement aims to 
build the managerial capacity of community organisations and 
ensure that relevant community services are delivered through 
consistent, accountable, equitable and accessible processes. 

 

Community Arts Network WA 

Community Arts Network manages the Catalyst Community Arts 
Fund which supports projects that express local culture and identity 
and promote the values of community empowerment, social 
inclusion, respect for diversity and self-determination. A total of 
$266,821 is allocated annually to this program. 

The Creative Networks Fund is designed to support local regional 
government authorities to develop their capacity to use art and 
culture to improve the lives of their citizens. The grants provide 
skills development, mentoring and networking with intensive 
training. A total of $90,962 is allocated annually to this program. 
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Country Arts WA 

Country Arts WA provides annual funding to regional arts councils 
and organisations to coordinate diverse arts and cultural activities. 
In addition, it delivers the ‘Shows on the Go’ program that 
subsidises tours of professional performing arts productions to 
regional and remote Western Australia as well as ‘Sand Tracks’, a 
remote Indigenous contemporary music touring initiative. The 
Department provides $778,506 for these programs. 

Country Arts devolved Category "A" Arts Councils $183,506 

Country Arts devolved Arts Councils $130,000 

Country Arts devolved Performing Arts Touring $440,000 

Country Arts Contemporary Music Touring $25,000 

Literature Touring Program  

Writing WA receives $17,000 in devolved funding for its regional 
program. In 2010, 6,926 people attended regional writers’ festival 
events in Kununurra, Geraldton, Bridgetown, Margaret River and 
Albany and 539 people participated in a regional writing group 
workshop or attended an author event at their local library.  

An additional $8,000 is devolved to the Children’s Book Council, 
which celebrates Australian children’s literature and its creators, 
and seeks to engage the community with literature for young 
Australians.  

Collections sector 
The Department provided core recurrent funding of $79,160 to Museums 
Australia (WA) and $42,821 to the Royal Western Australian Historical 
Society in 2010/2011.   

In addition, the Community Collections funding program ‘Connect’ 
provided $125,307 to support quality public programs and professional 
development for Western Australian collecting organisations, artists and 
curators. A total of $19,000 was provided to emerging Indigenous curator 
Terry Murray at the Berndt Museum of Anthropology, and the City of 
Melville received $17,500 to develop an artist-in-residence program 
inspired by its collections.   

Lotteries Commission funding 
The Lotteries Commission Act provides that five per cent of net 
subscriptions go to the Department of Culture and the Arts, 
providing essential infrastructure through which Western 
Australians can experience unique and transforming arts and 
culture experiences. A total of 49 cultural and arts organisations 
received support, including the State’s major performing arts 
companies and a range of small-to-medium companies that 
operate in the theatre, dance, visual arts, craft, writing and music 
sectors.  

Art philanthropy and sponsorship 
The Premier’s Arts Partnership Fund (PAPF) is a partnership 
between the Australia Business Arts Foundation, Mirvac Group and 
the State Government of Western Australia through the 
Department of Culture and the Arts. PAPF encourages small-to-
medium businesses to partner the arts by matching the financial 
commitment of a small-to-medium business to an arts organisation 
– effectively doubling the value of the partnership. In 2010/2011 
PAPF supported 28 new partnerships, matching the $152,750 
raised from the private sector in support of the arts.  

The Department’s partnership with the Australia Council for the 
Arts resulted in the establishment of a new Western Australian 
manager for ArtSupport Australia in 2008, tasked with brokering 
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philanthropic relationships between individuals, foundations and 
arts organisations. Over the last two years, the position has 
brokered an average of $1.2 million per annum and successfully 
introduced three new philanthropic trusts to the Department’s 
Philanthropy Incentive Program.  

The Philanthropy Incentive Program encourages individuals, 
groups of individuals, and businesses to establish prescribed 
private funds, foundations or other charitable trusts that are 
philanthropic to the arts, by contributing an amount of up to 7.5 per 
cent (to a maximum of $50,000) of the initial capital funds to an 
arts organisation of the fund’s choice. This funding is promoted by 
Artsupport Australia, an Australia Council for the Arts program 
supported by the Department that works closely with government 
and cultural, corporate, financial and philanthropic sectors to 
develop effective strategies for giving. In 2010/2011 the 
Department received applications to the program based on the 
establishment of more than $3 million worth of new trusts open to 
the arts. Decisions on those applications will be made in 
2011/2012. 

Investment in infrastructure 

The Portfolio owns and manages assets of more than $621 million 
(excluding the State Theatre Centre of Western Australia and 
Albany Entertainment Centre which have not yet been formally 
valued) with considerable heritage and maintenance issues.  The 
Department continues to lead and coordinate the strategic asset 
management planning of the portfolio.  In 2010/2011, the 
Department commenced work on a revised policy for the venues it 
owns and manages to ensure that the value provided by the 
Department to the users of its venues is properly understood.  

The Department continued to support the provision of culture and 
arts infrastructure projects in regional Western Australia. The Shire 
of Broome received $969,569 to commence design concept, 
planning and pre-tender work on the Broome Multipurpose Arts 
and Community Venue and the City of Bunbury was supported with 
$300,000 in funding to commence work on the upgrade of its 
gallery space.  

The Arts Capital Fund provides for the upgrading of venues to 
improve the experiences of the public. A number of projects were 
completed this year, including upgrades to the Artrage Bakery 
complex and the Perth Institute of Contemporary Arts, and 
equipment upgrades to the Blue Room Theatre and the Spare 
Parts Puppet Theatre.  

State Theatre Centre of Western Australia 

The State Theatre Centre of Western Australia (STCWA) was 
officially opened on 27 January 2011, representing the first 
purpose-built theatre to be constructed by a State Government in 
Perth.  

The theatre’s opening included a smoking of The Centre by 
representatives of Noongar Whadjuck and a ceremony in which the 
Governor of Western Australia, His Excellency Dr Ken Michael AC, 
and the Premier Colin Barnett officially opened the venue. The 
ceremony, which was attended by 500 invited dignitaries, was 
followed by two performances on Saturday 29 January 2011 that 
commemorated the opening of The Centre and showcased the 
wealth of talent Western Australia has to offer, and the technical 
capabilities of the Heath Ledger Theatre. Directed by Andrew 
Lewis, this event employed over 90 Western Australians and 
attracted 1000 people to the venue. 
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The opening of The Centre was a defining moment in the cultural 
history of the State and represented a new era for performing arts 
in Western Australia. 

Featuring the 575 seat Heath Ledger Theatre and the 234 flexible 
seat Studio Underground, the Centre is not only an inspiring and 
first-class venue for performers and audiences, but also an elegant 
architectural and civic landmark for the City. 

Designed by award-winning Kerry Hill Architects, the design of the 
Centre has been critically acclaimed and has won three significant 
architectural awards since its opening. 

The Centre features state-of-the-art technology including 
automated flying systems and Cablenet suspension system that 
enables staff to safely adjust technical changes with greater 
efficiency – the first time these systems have been installed in a 
theatre in Western Australia. 

Running at 91 per cent capacity, drawing sell-out crowds and 
overwhelmingly meeting its occupancy targets, STCWA is an 
exciting new theatre destination for the people of Western 
Australia. 
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Strategic Objective 3: The Department’s role in delivering culture and arts policy will bStrategic Objective 3: The Department’s role in delivering culture and arts policy will bStrategic Objective 3: The Department’s role in delivering culture and arts policy will bStrategic Objective 3: The Department’s role in delivering culture and arts policy will be strengthened e strengthened e strengthened e strengthened 
by clear relationships with all stakeholdersby clear relationships with all stakeholdersby clear relationships with all stakeholdersby clear relationships with all stakeholders    

The Department exists within a complex system of relationships 
that impact upon its role and influence on government arts and 
culture policy development. By clarifying and strengthening 
relationships with stakeholders, the Department will be maintaining 
its leadership of State arts and culture policy and funding.  

 

Consulting on arts policy and priorities 

Infrastructure developments 

During the reporting year, the culture and arts portfolio worked with 
the Department of Treasury and Finance’s Building Management 
and Works team to undertake the replacement of the Art Gallery of 
Western Australia’s façade, the demolition of the Western 
Australian Museum’s Francis Street building and the development 
of the business case for a new repository for the State’s archives. 
These successful working relationships, based on an agreed 
governance structure and a clear understanding of the roles and 
responsibilities of the different agencies involved, align with the 
State Government’s Works Reform Business Solutions Plan. The 
Department also worked with the Department of Treasury and 
Finance’s Strategic Projects team on the completion of the State 
Theatre Centre of Western Australia, opened in January 2011 and 
received enthusiastically by the community. 

Strengthening networks and knowledge-sharing 
activities 

Young people and the arts 

The Department continued to support the interests of young people 
in the arts, participating in the Youth Grant Funder Collaboration 
Forum and chairing its Urban Art Subcommittee. The Forum, led by 
the Office of Crime Prevention, comprises a number of government 
departments that manage funding programs for young people, as 
well as the State Graffiti Taskforce. The Department also 
contributed submissions to inquiries held by the Commissioner for 
Children and Young People, including the Inquiry into Mental Health 
and Wellbeing. 

Arts education 

In December 2010, the Department of Culture and the Arts and the 
Department of Education released Creative Connections: An Arts in 
Education Partnership Framework 2010-2014. This framework 
builds on the expertise, understanding and operational capacity of 
both departments in stimulating an education system that nurtures 
increased creativity, imagination, skills and knowledge. 

ArtsEdge, a strategic partnership with the Department of Education 
that provides professional training and resources for both arts and 
education practitioners, also continued to facilitate greater 
collaboration between the education, arts and cultural sectors. 

This year also saw the continuation of the Artist in Residence 
Initiative, a four-year Federal Government pilot program developed 
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in partnership with the Australia Council for the Arts, the 
Department of Culture and the Arts and the Department of 
Education. The program supports the participation of professional 
artists in public schools and universities as artists-in-residence to 
improve students’ access to quality arts-in-education programs. In 
October 2010, $560,000 was awarded to 12 projects within this 
initiative.  

The Department is actively involved in the development of the 
National Arts Curriculum. In December 2010 it provided a 
submission on the draft paper ‘Shape of the Australian Curriculum: 
The Arts’ and in April 2011 it attended the National Dance 
Education in Australian Schools Roundtable. 

Media relationships   

In August 2010, the Department conducted its annual journalist 
program in association with The West Australian newspaper group.  
The program aims to introduce new journalists to arts and culture in 
WA and to establish positive and effective relationships between 
the local media, the Department and the arts and cultural sector. 
Four journalists participated in the program, which involved a full 
day of visits and presentations, including an overview of the 
Department’s funding programs and policies and visits with arts and 
cultural organisations including the WA Museum, the State Records 
Office, the Art Gallery of WA, ScreenWest and the East Perth 
Redevelopment Authority. 

Developing partnerships to broaden culture and 
arts experiences 

Art in the landscape 

A new three year Memorandum of Understanding was signed in 
2011 to continue the Department’s long-term partnership with the 

Department of Treasury and Finance’s Building Management and 
Works unit to resource, implement and advocate for the State 
Government Percent for Art Scheme. The Scheme encourages 
allocation up to one per cent of the estimated total construction cost 
of each State capital works project valued at $2 million and over to 
a commissioned Western Australian artwork. The Scheme 
commissioned more than $3 million worth of public artworks this 
year, including commissions from the Departments of Health, 
Education and Justice exceeding $200,000 each. New artworks to 
the value of $1.5 million were mobilised for the Fiona Stanley 
Hospital, including significant works by Indigenous artists and 
specifically designed artworks that will assist people to find their 
way around this very large built environment.  

Another key relationship this year has been with the East Perth 
Redevelopment Authority (EPRA), which has primary responsibility 
for the revitalisation of the Perth Cultural Centre. The Department is 
working with EPRA to look at ways that the Centre can be made 
more attractive and welcoming to a broader range of people. A 
specifically-curated public art program has been implemented 
which engages artists from different disciplines to create non-
permanent and ephemeral works within the precinct.  

In 2009, the Department initiated a $1 million international sculpture 
competition, situate, that provided a new model for the inter-
government commissioning of public art.  Work has been 
undertaken during the year and the completed sculpture, by 
commissioned artist James Angus, will be installed in the 
redeveloped Forrest Place in Perth’s central business district in the 
second half of 2011. 

Throughout the year, the Department continued to respond to 
requests from local government authorities for feedback on 
strategic planning and policy development around public art. The 
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Department is often consulted in the early developmental stages of 
a strategic plan and is able to assist the process by suggesting 
common links between local governments with similar 
demographics and desired outcomes. This year, it made comment 
on the City of Bunbury draft strategic plan, participated in a 
reference group for the consultation stage of the strategic plan for 
the City of Subiaco, provided feedback on a draft public art policy 
for the City of Fremantle and liaised with ARTS SA on a draft 
Percent for Art policy model. 

Offshore activities 

The Department continued to operate under the terms of the 2006-
2010 Service Delivery Arrangement (SDA) with the Australian 
Government’s Department of Regional Australia, Regional 
Development and Local Government while a new SDA is being 
finalised. The SDA aims to provide the communities of Christmas 
Island and Cocos (Keeling) Islands with services commensurate to 
those provided to similarly remote Western Australian communities. 
The SDA budget approved for the reporting period was $426,757 
and covered activities by the Department, Country Arts WA, 
Community Arts Network WA, Art On The Move and the Western 
Australian Museum.  For the first time, this budget includes 
provisions for performing arts tours in both the current financial year 
and the next financial year, to enable sufficient advance planning 
for tours that usually take place in September/October of each year. 

The 30th anniversary of sister-state relations between Western 
Australia and Hyogo Prefecture in Japan were celebrated with two 
textile events supported by the Department. The Banshu Textile 
program enabled six fashion and design students to travel to Japan 
to work with Banshu textile manufacturers. Funding was also 

granted for a separate textiles exhibition that will be presented at 
the Hyogo Museum of Art in Kobe and the Western Australian 
Museum later in 2011. The Department also provided assistance 
and support to enable the Tu Di Shen Ti exhibition of Indigenous art 
from Warburton to be presented in Hangzhou, capital of Western 
Australia’s Chinese sister-state Zhejiang.  

Partnerships with government 

The Department maintains a range of partnerships across State 
and Federal Government to deliver services that effectively and 
efficiently coordinate government resources.  It also provides 
comment on the policy and strategy initiatives of other Government 
departments that may impact on the culture and arts sector.  In 
2010/2011 the Department had formal Memorandums of 
Understanding with each of the following State and Federal 
government departments and agencies: 

• Australia Council for the Arts 

• Department of Regional Development and Lands 

• Disability Services Commission 

• Department of Treasury and Finance, Building Management and 
Works 

• Department of Education 

• Department of Indigenous Affairs 

• Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet, Office for the Arts  

• Office of Crime Prevention  

• Department of State Development 

• Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade. 



 

DEPARTMENT OF CULTURE AND THE ARTS ANNUAL REPORT 2010/2011 Page 32 of 95 

StraStraStraStrategic Objective 4:tegic Objective 4:tegic Objective 4:tegic Objective 4: The Department The Department The Department The Department will establish culture and arts infrastructure policy with a focus  will establish culture and arts infrastructure policy with a focus  will establish culture and arts infrastructure policy with a focus  will establish culture and arts infrastructure policy with a focus 
on the potential of new technologies on the potential of new technologies on the potential of new technologies on the potential of new technologies     

Sector-wide infrastructure planning  

The Department is preparing a Strategic Asset Plan in conjunction 
with the Department of Treasury and Finance’s Building 
Management and Works team.  The requirements of the Strategic 
Asset Plan have been revised by the Department of Treasury, with 
agencies being asked to document the services and programs 
they currently deliver and what services they plan to deliver over 
the next 10 years in response to changing demand. The asset and 
non-asset solutions for delivering these services can then be 
assessed in an appropriate context.  

The Department is also preparing ‘Cultural Infrastructure 
Directions’, a policy document to be released late in 2011 that 
explores both the built and non-built infrastructure needed to 
support the delivery of services. The document, which includes 
information on working with partners in local government, the 
business community and the not-for-profit sector, covers the 
following four themes:   

• built form infrastructure – the physical assets needed to 
deliver culture and arts to the community 

• planning – research aimed at understanding how the 
community engages with culture and the arts and alignment 
to State planning policies such as ‘Directions 2013’ 

• partnerships – the role of cultural infrastructure and how the 
State will partner with other stakeholders to deliver and 
maintain infrastructure 

• access and engagement – assessment of how the needs of 
various groups in the community can be better met, 
including regional communities, people with disabilities, 
youth and those that are time poor.  
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AGENCY PERFORMANCE: STATE RECORDS OFFICE AGENCY PERFORMANCE: STATE RECORDS OFFICE AGENCY PERFORMANCE: STATE RECORDS OFFICE AGENCY PERFORMANCE: STATE RECORDS OFFICE 

The State Records Office of Western Australia (SRO) is charged 
with ensuring that our State’s history – stories of decision-making 
by governments and how the delivery of government policy and 
services to the community intersects with the lives of ordinary 
people – is documented, preserved and made available to future 
generations. The State’s archives document the history of Western 
Australia from Colonial settlement to the present day and are of 
value to a wide range of users including academics, historians, 
government/corporate stakeholders and individual citizens, all of 
whom require access to reliable sources of information.   

Today, information is being generated in greater volume by 
government and is in equally greater demand by the community. 
Technological developments are also creating new challenges and 
opportunities in terms of capturing, preserving and managing 
information.  

Unlike other areas within the Department’s portfolio, the SRO has a 
whole-of-government role to advise and assist with the legal 
creation, management and disposal of government information.  
The SRO therefore has its own strategic plan, with outcomes 
measured against its performance in the following areas: 

• regulatory role 

• intellectual control of State archives 

• preservation of the State archives collection 

• access and outreach. 

The following information details the SRO’s achievements in 
fulfilling these roles throughout the year. 

Regulatory role 

Recordkeeping standards 

Under section 61 of the State Records Act 2000 the State Records 
Commission (the Commission) is required to establish principles 
and standards governing recordkeeping by all State and local 
government agencies. Following Commission approval in 
November 2010, the SRO published a fully revised General 
Disposal Authority for Local Government Records, along with 
supporting documentation to assist implementation. In addition, the 
SRO has developed a Sector Disposal Authority for Regional 
Development Commissions within Western Australia. The latter will 
be published in late 2011.  

The Act requires all government organisations to have an approved 
recordkeeping plan, review the plan at least every five years and 
submit a report on the review to the Commission. During the year 
the SRO evaluated and processed the recordkeeping plans of 52 
government organisations, along with the records retention and 
disposal schedules of another 14 government organisations, and 
reported to the Commission regarding those documents.   

Compliance monitoring 

To complement the Commission’s role in monitoring compliance 
and enquiring into possible breaches of the Act, the SRO this year 
designed new options for progressing whole-of-government 
compliance monitoring. It is also investigating ways of implementing 
web-based assessments and audits of agency recordkeeping plans. 
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State Records Commission support 

One of the chief functions of the SRO is to provide administrative 
and operational support to the State Records Commission, which is 
established under Part 8 of the Act. The Commission consists of 
four members: the Auditor General, the State Ombudsman, the 
Freedom of Information Commissioner, and a recordkeeping 
professional who is the Governor’s appointee. This year the SRO 
supported three meetings of the Commission including one hosted 
by the City of Albany. 

The SRO also supports the work of the State Records Advisory 
Committee. This body is empowered by the Commission to 
examine and endorse all records retention and disposal authorities 
compiled by government agencies, prior to their referral to the 
Commission for final approval. The Committee met three times this 
year and considered 14 disposal authorities, which were then 
submitted to the Commission for approval.  

The SRO also investigated several alleged recordkeeping breaches 
of the Act, on the Commission’s behalf. These alleged breaches will 
be reported in the Commission’s annual report. 

The SRO organised the judging and presentation of the Award for 
Excellence in Compliance Reporting, sponsored each year by the 
State Records Commission. This was presented by the Executive 
Director, State Records to the Western Australia Police at the 
Institute of Public Administration Australia’s W S Lonnie Awards in 
April 2011.  

The Commission is required to report to State Parliament before 1 
November each year on matters concerning the operation of the 
Act. Since 2002, the SRO has compiled this report on the 

Commission’s behalf. The Commission’s Annual Report for 
2009/2010 was tabled in State Parliament on 21 September 2010. 

Intellectual control of State archives 

Archives Explored Online (AEON) 

AEON is the acronym for the online catalogue of archives held in 
the State archives collection at the SRO. This catalogue is 
accessible via the SRO’s homepage at www.sro.wa.gov.au.  The 
record items identified on AEON can be viewed at the SRO’s 
search room in central Perth.  

This year SRO continued to engage First Choice Employment, a 
Commonwealth government work experience service provider, in a 
data entry project to retrospectively capture item titles from the 
SRO’s manual catalogue to an electronic format, and transport this 
information to AEON. This year 55,000 items were added to the 
database. These include names of former government teachers and 
railway employees whose individual record of service cards are 
held by the SRO. 

Online Retention and Disposal Application (ORDA) 

Last year it was reported that the SRO is leading the development 
of a new Web-based application (called ORDA) that will enable 
government agency staff in Western Australia to compile records 
retention and disposal schedules online. In February 2011, CSG 
Pty Ltd were engaged to develop ORDA. Development work is 
expected be completed in late 2011 and the system should be fully 
operational for agency use by January 2012. 
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Preservation of the State Archives collection 

State archives repository 

Under section 32 of the Act, all Government organisations must 
transfer their archives to the custody of the Executive Director, 
State Records who is the custodian of the State archives collection 
at the SRO. 

Since July 2001 the SRO has been unable to accept transfers of 
State archives from State and local government agencies, due to 
the lack of appropriate storage space in the State’s archival 
repository.  A business case for a new repository was completed by 
the SRO in November 2010.  As a result, the State Budget released 
in May 2011 included a $100,000 allocation for site assessment for 
a future archives repository. 

Preservation program 

The SRO shares archives storage space in the Perth Cultural 
Centre with the State Library of Western Australia. Under current 
arrangements, the State Library’s Preservation Branch provides the 
SRO with general conservation advice, and implements a small 
SRO microfilming and digitisation program annually.  

Access and outreach  

Reference and access services 

The SRO maintains a public search room in the Perth Cultural 
Centre, where researchers may view State archives in hard copy 
and microfilm formats. A limited reference service is also provided 
to clients who are unable to visit Perth.  

Public programs 

 

The SRO organises a program of public events to promote use of 
records in the State archives collection. This year’s events 
comprised: 

• five public lunchtime seminars,  delivered by either SRO staff 
or researchers, concerning aspects of Western Australia’s 
history. Each speaker delivered informative presentations 
regarding access to, or use of, records held in the State 
archives collection. 

• the sixth annual Geoffrey Bolton Lecture, held at the 
Ballroom in Government House, Perth. This year’s speaker 
was Emeritus Professor David Black AM, Chairman of the 
Parliamentary History Advisory Committee whose address 
was titled ‘ Parliament, the People and Archives: 
documenting politics in WA’.  

Since 2002, the SRO has commemorated the annual release of the 
State Cabinet papers from a 30-year access embargo. On 
Foundation Day 2011 (6 June) the SRO acknowledged the release 
of the 1980 Cabinet papers by placing an Index and Guide to the 
Cabinet Minutes and Decisions for that year on its website, and 
issuing a media release. 
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ORGANISATIONAL SUPPORTORGANISATIONAL SUPPORTORGANISATIONAL SUPPORTORGANISATIONAL SUPPORT    

Managing our people 

The Human Resources directorate continues to provide services 
across the portfolio to support workplace issues and needs, 
including the development and implementation of human resource 
policy, planning and development initiatives, industrial relations 
support and the offering of staff training. Significant activities 
throughout the year included:  

• upgrade of the Talent 2 human resources information 
system, in conjunction with the Office of Shared Services. 
During the period April to June 2011, Human Resources 
staff conducted 40 Employee Kiosk training sessions for 
some 584 departmental and portfolio staff in the new and 
existing functions of the system. The sessions were 
conducted in all departmental and portfolio locations 
throughout Western Australia.  

• development of management reports to keep the 
Department and portfolio agencies up-to-date with staff data 
and trends. Reports are distributed on a quarterly basis to all 
CEOs. 

• completion and successful roll-out of the Manager Education 
Program, designed to assist managers to understand their 
full range of responsibilities within the public sector context.  

• development of a CEO induction program and review of the 
content of the portfolio staff induction program. 

• finalisation of a response to the Public Sector Commission’s 
document on strategic workforce directions for the public 
sector.   

• achievement of a minimum staff compliance rate of 78 per 
cent for the Staff Development System, the portfolio’s 
annual performance development scheme.   

• ongoing provision of professional short-term counselling to 
employees and their families through the Employee 
Assistance Program. The utilisation rate this year was 3.88 
per cent 

Equity and diversity 

The implementation of the Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) 
and Diversity Management Plan 2010–2012 is continuing to 
support the portfolio to meet its equity and diversity goals.  

The How Does Your Agency Compare? report provided annually 
by the Office of Equal Employment Opportunity provides a 
statistical analysis of workforce diversity in our portfolio compared 
to the whole public sector, based on an annual EEO survey. This 
year, there was a response rate to the survey of 88 per cent across 
the portfolio – the highest response rate achieved in the past five 
years. Results showed that the portfolio exceeded the public sector 
representation for women in management and people from 
culturally diverse backgrounds.  
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Risk management and business continuity  
A risk management framework (supporting compliance to 
Treasurer’s Instruction TI 825) continued to be integrated in 
organisational planning throughout the year. Operational risks are 
reviewed by risk owners in the Department through a web-based 
software program.  Accountabilities and responsibilities for the 
risks are clearly outlined, with oversight from the Department’s 
Risk Management Committee. Strategic risks have been identified 
and will be monitored through the Department’s Strategic Planning 
review cycle. 

Meanwhile, the Department’s Business Continuity Plan has been 
developed and endorsed, providing directions to staff in the event 
of a disaster, threat or prolonged outage affecting departmental 
operations. 

Ongoing education is provided to managers and key staff on risk 
management and business continuity. 

Audit and review 
The Audit and Review unit continued to support sound governance 
across the Department through its Annual Audit Plan that this year 
resulted in the completion of 10 audits and follow-up reviews 
evaluating key Department processes and controls. Significant 
audit recommendations focused on better organisational planning, 
improved internal communication processes and a stronger IT 
governance framework.  
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SIGNIFICANT ISSUES AND FUTURE DIRECSIGNIFICANT ISSUES AND FUTURE DIRECSIGNIFICANT ISSUES AND FUTURE DIRECSIGNIFICANT ISSUES AND FUTURE DIRECTIONSTIONSTIONSTIONS    
The vital role of arts and culture in the State’s development and 
wellbeing is reflected by 84 per cent of survey respondents 
supporting the Government’s investment in arts and culture and 87 
per cent recognising the role arts has in enabling us to understand 
our own culture and way of life (Arts Monitor Survey, March 2011). 

A range of issues impact on the ability of the sector to fulfil its 
important role in shifting economic and cultural landscape: 

The maintenance of the portfolio’s highly utilised and specialised 
building stock must be done within a limited budget.  An important 
consideration is that 33 of the Portfolio's 40 buildings are heritage 
listed, many of which were not built for their current purpose or 
usage.   

A key issue faced by the sector as a whole is the lack of affordable, 
well-located, professional spaces in which to administer, produce 
and exhibit work. In some cases, this is a result of increased inner 
city development and gentrification and a corresponding increase in 
rents for commercial properties.  The Department is developing a 
revised venues policy to develop a framework within which the 
venues the Department owns, leases and manages are assessed 
for lease and management including any that it provides or has 
provided assistance to third parties for. 

People are accessing and engaging with arts and culture in different 
ways and utilising new technology will be vital to achieving the 
desired reach of culture and arts services to the WA 
community. Understanding the application of digital technologies is 
of fundamental importance when planning the delivery of culture and 
the arts.  The Department commenced a project in 2010/11 that will 

provide information, recommendations and practical assistance to 
the culture and arts sector so that it can better understand and 
respond to the digital environment.  

In an increasingly competitive government funding environment, the 
Department will need to evidence the full extent of the public value 
its policies and funding support generates. The Department is 
undertaking a series of groundbreaking research projects that will 
benchmark the efficiency and efficacy of its programs; create a new 
public value measurement framework to provide an output reporting 
framework to capture the public value delivered to the Western 
Australian community; and develop a visualisation of the key 
networks and relationships that underpin the ecology of the cultural 
sector. 

The impact of the Royalties for Regions Act 2009 will continue to 
affect the Department’s work in regional Western Australia. The 
Department will continue to work with the Department of Lands and 
Regional Development to coordinate activities and will develop 
regional action plans with local regional partners across the State. 

State Records Office 
As reported in previous annual reports, the State Records Office 
(SRO) remains unable to accept the transfer of State archives from 
State and local government agencies as its archival storage 
repository is full. This situation has prevailed since July 2001. 

A business case for a sustainable archive, Future Proofing the 
State’s Information Assets, was submitted to Government in late 
2010. 
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DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCEDISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCEDISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCEDISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE
Ministerial directives 

The Department received no Ministerial directives throughout the 
year.  

Pricing policies 

No pricing policies apply to the Department as it is not a 
commercial agency. 

Major capital projects 

The Department was involved in the following major capital projects 
during the reporting year: 

State Theatre Centre of Western Australia 

Cabinet endorsed funding for the State Theatre Centre of Western 
Australia in October 2004, in recognition of the long-standing need 
for state-of-the-art professional performance spaces with a drama 
focus. The project was completed in late 2010 and the Centre was 
officially opened in January 2011.   

Demolition of WA Museum’s Francis Street building 

The WA Museum’s Francis Street building was vacated in 2004 due 
to asbestos contamination and was deemed unsuitable for 
remediation and ongoing use.  The project budget of $8 million has 
covered the remediation and demolition of the building and related 
works that are a direct consequence of the demolition. The works 
began in late February 2011 and the demolition will be completed in 
October 2011.   

Façade of Art Gallery of WA 

The façade of the Art Gallery of WA is being replaced to address 
serious structural and safety issues.  The block work for the new 
façade has been sourced from the manufacturer of the original 
block work and a new, more effective, sub-structure for the external 
leaf has been designed.  The works began in April 2011 and will be 
completed mid-2012 at an expected cost of $10 million.  

Façade of His Majesty’s Theatre 

The façade of His Majesty’s Theatre was replaced in 2010/2011 in 
response to reports that identified major structural weaknesses. At 
a cost of $2.2 million, the works have restored the Hay and King 
Street facades and addressed the public safety concerns.  
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Governance disclosures: interests of senior 
officers 

The Deputy Director General’s husband was General Manager of 
the Perth Theatre Company until October 2010 and then Acting 
General Manager for Steps Youth Dance Company for the 
remainder of this financial year.   Both organisations receive 
funding from the Department and the conflict is managed by the 
non-participation of the Deputy Director General in any discussions 
relating to funding decisions for organisations in which her husband 
is employed.  

 

Advertising expenditure 

In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the 
Department is required to report on expenditure incurred during the 
financial year in relation to advertising agencies, market research 
organisations, polling organisations, direct mail organisations and 
media advertising organisations.  

Details are as follows: 

Exp with advertising agencies $0 

Exp with market research agencies  

 Patterson Market Research $41,640 

Exp with market polling agencies $0 

Exp with direct mail agencies $0 

Exp with media advertising agencies:  

 Adcorp Australia $28,400 

 Arts Radio $2,125 

 West Australian Newspaper $1,003 

 Others $4,356 

 Arts Hub  

 Alex McRae  

 Life Noise  

 Harmonic  

 Out in Perth  

 Rightangles  

 Spaceship News  

 WA Local Government Association  

Total expenditure $77,524 
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Disability access and inclusion plan outcomes  

The Department is committed to ensuring that people with 
disabilities, their families, friends and carers have the same 
opportunities, rights and responsibilities enjoyed as others, to 
access its arts and cultural services, information and facilities. 
Progress towards meeting the desired outcomes of its Disability 
Access and Inclusion Plan is outlined below. 

Outcome 1: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the services of, 
and any events organised by, the Department. 

The recommendations of the evaluation of the Grants for Artists 
with Disabilities Pilot Project are being considered as part of the 
Department’s funding process review. 

Outcome 2: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the buildings 
and other facilities of the Department. 

Auditing of external access to all Department buildings has 
continued. A list has been developed of required building and 
facility amendments and the associated costs.  Items have been 
prioritised and some funding approved. 

Outcome 3: People with disabilities receive information 
from the Department in a format that will enable them to 
access the information as readily as other people are 
able to access it. 

All new publications, including the grants handbooks and grant 
application forms, follow the typeface, branding and layout 
guidelines contained in the Department’s style guide.  This 

complies with the Disability Services Commission guidelines for 
making information accessible. 

A variety of alternative and accessible formats are available upon 
request.  A by-line stating their availability is included in a 
prominent position in all publications. 

The new Department website was formatted to meet all 
requirements detailed by W3C Web Content Accessibility 
Guidelines. The website was checked by the Disability Services 
Commission and was deemed to be compliant. All documents 
available for download are tagged for accessibility and, where 
possible, are provided in an alternative plain text file format. All 
videos have transcripts attached. 

Human Resources organised ‘Access to Information’ training, which 
was delivered by the Disability Services Commission. The training 
was designed to assist staff to develop printed and online 
information that is accessible to people with disabilities, children, 
the elderly and people with English as their second language. A 
total of 51 staff attended this training. 

Outcome 4: People with disabilities receive the same 
level and quality of service from the staff of the 
Department as other people receive from the staff of the 
Department. 

A presentation on disability access and inclusion, including 
customer service for people with disabilities, is included in the 
Culture and Arts Portfolio Induction Program that is attended by all 
new employees. 
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Outcome 5: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to make complaints to the 
Department. 

The Department’s complaints process is easily accessible online. 
Feedback and complaints mechanisms are in place but are 
currently being reviewed to ensure they are being appropriately 
implemented. 

Outcome 6: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to participate in any public 
consultation by the Department. 

To support people with disabilities, their families and carers to 
attend external consultations and public gatherings, the Department 
provides event information in clear, concise language and in 
accessible formats. It also holds events in accessible venues and 
provides consultation information in alternative formats, upon 
request.   

Outcome 7: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to seek employment with 
the Department. 

Information and policy aimed at encouraging and facilitating the 
recruitment of people with disabilities has been incorporated within 
the Department’s Recruitment, Selection and Appointment Manual. 
All staff have access to the manual through the Departmental 
intranet. 

Compliance with public sector standards and 
ethical codes  

Compliance with the Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes is 
assessed regularly by the Department’s Human Resources area. 
The Public Sector Commission investigates and determines the 
outcome of breach claims, should they occur.  

In accordance with Section 31 of the Public Sector Management 
Act 1994, the following is a report of the extent to which the 
Department has complied with Public Sector Standards, the 
Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and the 
Department’s Code of Conduct.  

COMPLIANCE ISSUE 
SIGNIFICANT ACTION TAKEN TO MONITOR 
AND ENSURE COMPLIANCE 

Public Sector 
Standards No Breaches 

Information about Public Sector Standards has 
been included on intranet and incorporated 
into the Department’s Induction Program. 

An education program for managers is now 
complete. Consideration is being given to its 
implementation within portfolio agencies. 

Having achieved a significant improvement in 
participation in the Staff Development System, 
further improvement is being considered in the 
areas of quality and administrative efficiency.  

HR policies and guidelines are being reviewed 
to ensure continued compliance with the new 
discipline and employment standards. 
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Compliance Issues continued 

COMPLIANCE ISSUE 
SIGNIFICANT ACTION TAKEN TO 
MONITOR AND ENSURE COMPLIANCE 

Western Australian 
Public Sector Code of 
Ethics 

No breaches 

Training on the Code of Ethics and Code of 
Conduct continues to be covered in staff 
induction sessions.  

Staff are required to acknowledge receipt of 
their own copies of the codes on at the time 
that they sign their initial employment 
contract.  

Staff are reminded of the content of the 
Codes during staff or management 
development training sessions on topics such 
as First Principles, the new Discipline 
Standard or the Performance Management 
Process. 

The Department currently applies the 
Commissioners Instruction: Discipline – 
General and regularly reviews policies and 
processes to ensure compliance. 

Code of Conduct One 
breach 

Same as for Code of Ethics.The Code of 
Ethics has been incorporated as a separate 
item within the Departmental Code of 
Conduct. 

The listed information is for the Department of Culture and Arts and 
the State Records Office only. The Portfolio Agencies (Art Gallery of 
Western Australia, ScreenWest, Western Australian Museum and the 
State Library) provide their own information in their annual reports. 

Recordkeeping plans  

Department of Culture and the Arts Recordkeeping Plan 

In accordance with s19 of the State Records Act 2000, the 
Department submitted an amended Recordkeeping Plan (RKP) to 
the State Records Commission at its meeting on 19 November 2010.  
In response, the Commission acknowledged the significant number 
of improvements detailed in the Plan. A fully revised Plan is required 
to be submitted to the State Records Office (SRO) by 19 November 
2015. 

The RKP for the Department is to provide evidence to show that: 

The efficiency and effectiveness of the organisation’s 
recordkeeping system is evaluated not less than once every five 
years. 

As part of the development of the amended Plan for the State 
Records Commission, the Department’s recordkeeping systems 
were revised and updates and improvements incorporated as 
necessary.  The Department’s Executive Leadership Team endorsed 
the Recordkeeping Plan in October 2010 for submission to the State 
Records Commission.  

The Director General launched the Department’s Knowledge 
Management Strategy on 9 May 2011, described as the “collection of 
processes that govern the creation, dissemination and utilisation of 
knowledge”. Because the roll-out of the Electronic Document 
Management System (EDMS) has been identified as a foundation 
project for this strategy, an EDMS training and support officer has 
been recruited to support this initiative. The Department has also 
commenced a retrospective scanning project to enable online access 
to a critical series of corporate documentation. 
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The organisation conducts a record keeping training program. 

Recordkeeping training is provided to Departmental staff to raise 
awareness of recordkeeping requirements and provide instruction in 
recordkeeping systems. A total of 78 staff training sessions were 
held during 2010/2011.  

As part of the Manager Education Program, the Manager, Corporate 
Information presented two sessions in recordkeeping responsibilities 
to Departmental managers. 

Recordkeeping staff were also provided with the opportunity to 
attend training to broaden their skills.  Staff attended three briefing 
sessions on information management topics and in-house training in 
TRIM. 

The efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeeping training 
program is reviewed from time to time. 

The recordkeeping training program is reviewed regularly and staff 
usage of the electronic document and records management system 
is monitored regularly to identify gaps in usage. Training material is 
subsequently updated to address these areas of weakness.  As a 
part of the roll-out of the EDMS, staff are being surveyed and their 
responses analysed to improve training and support.  Feedback and 
support is also provided to staff identified as not using the system 
properly (eg inadequate document titling standards). 

Evidence is that the Department’s recordkeeping training is 
improving recordkeeping practices as seen by increased TRIM 
usage.  More than 80 per cent of staff working within the Law 
Chambers Building now have TRIM access and have been provided 
with TRIM EDMS training.  TRIM statistics provide evidence that this 
year nearly 40,000 documents have been registered into TRIM, 

compared to 18,000 documents in 2009/2010 and only 8,639 
documents in 2005/2006. Many of the documents now being 
registered are created by Departmental staff. The ongoing 
assessment of the EDMS roll-out demonstrates that documents 
being created in TRIM have quality metadata, which results in 
records that are identifiable, accessible and manageable over time. 

The organisation’s induction program addresses employee 
roles and responsibilities in regard to their compliance with the 
organisation’s Recordkeeping Plan. 

The State Records Office provides induction training for all new 
Department and portfolio staff.  The induction course is held monthly 
and provides all new staff with information about their recordkeeping 
responsibilities under the State Records Act 2000.  A brochure 
detailing staff recordkeeping responsibilities is provided for all staff 
attending these sessions. 

State Records Office Recordkeeping Plan 
The following information is provided as evidence of compliance with 
legislative requirements (i.e. the State Records Act 2000 and the 
State Records Commission’s Standards). 

• During 2010 the State Records Office (SRO) reviewed internal 
recordkeeping systems and processes for effectiveness and 
relevant areas previously identified for improvement were 
addressed. Specific areas included:  

• migration of corporate records to updated systems with controlled 
vocabulary and staff training to facilitate a smooth transition 

• TRIM training included in the formal induction program 

• a fully revised suite of polices and procedures was developed and 
published for internal use 
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Substantive equality  

The Department is conducting a mid-life review of its Substantive 
Equality Project Plan and is incorporating changes to the revised 
Equal Opportunity Commission policy framework. The project seeks 
to establish the means of identifying and reducing issues that 
discourage customers from different cultural backgrounds from 
accessing Departmental services. It aims to both build on the 
significant successes that have been achieved to date and ensure 
that substantive equality is fully embedded in business decision 
processes by project completion in mid-2014.   

Occupational health, safety and injury 
management  

Commitment 
The Department is committed to ensuring that all employees are safe 
from injuries and risks to health while they are at work and accepts 
that employee health and safety is primarily a responsibility of 
management.  Specified policies, work practices and procedures 
have been prepared to address the hazards and hazardous work 
processes in the workplace. These are available on the Department’s 
intranet.  

Mechanisms for consultation with staff 
The Department and Portfolio agencies each have their own active 
occupational safety and health (OSH) committees. The formal 
mechanisms for consultation with employees on OSH and injury 
management matters are primarily via line management. Staff are 
made aware of this process at their staff induction and have access 
to this information on the intranet.  

Compliance with injury management requirements 
The Department demonstrates its commitment to assisting 
employees to return to work after a work-related injury or work-
related disease through its Injury Management Policy.  Information 
on workers compensation and injury management is provided to staff 
at induction and via the intranet. The Department engages in formal, 
documented programs for employees requiring modified duties or 
equipment upon returning to work after an injury. Such programs are 
compliant with the Worker’s Compensation and Injury Management 
Act 1981.  

Assessment of OHS management systems 
The OHS Framework provides information about the self-evaluation 
of an OHS management system via use of the WorkSafe plan. 

Indicator  Target 2010/11  Actual 

Number of fatalities  Zero (0)  0 

Lost time injury/diseases (LTI/D) 
incidence rate  

Zero (0) or 10% 
reduction on previous 
year  

0 

Lost time injury severity rate  Zero (0) or 10% 
improvement on 
previous year  

0 

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work within 28 weeks 

Actual percentage 
result to be reported 

0 

Percentage of managers trained 
in occupational safety, health 
and injury management 
responsibilities 

Greater than or equal 
to 50% 

All managers 
trained in 
Sep/Oct 2010  



 

DEPARTMENT OF CULTURE AND THE ARTS ANNUAL REPORT 2010/2011 Page 46 of 95 

OPINION OF THE AUDITOR GENERALOPINION OF THE AUDITOR GENERALOPINION OF THE AUDITOR GENERALOPINION OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL

 

Auditor General 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Parliament of Western Australia  

DEPARTMENT OF CULTURE AND THE ARTS  

Report on the Financial Statements  

 

I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Department of 
Culture and the Arts.  

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 
30 June 2011, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Schedule of Income and 
Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service, and 
Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates 
for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  

The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and 
for such internal control as the Director General determines is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

Auditor’s Responsibility  

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the financial statements based on my audit. The 
audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the Department’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Director General, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my audit opinion.  
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Opinion  

In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Department of Culture and the Arts at 30 June 2011 and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions.  

Report on Controls  

I have audited the controls exercised by the Department of Culture and the 
Arts. The Director General is responsible for ensuring that adequate control 
is maintained over the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of public and other property, and the incurring of 
liabilities in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.  

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the controls exercised by the Director General 
based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards.  

Opinion  

In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Department of Culture and the 
Arts are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the 
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal 
of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions.  

Report on the Key Performance Indicators  

I have audited the key performance indicators of the Department of Culture 
and the Arts. The Director General is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions.  

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the key performance indicators based on my audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

Opinion  

In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Department of Culture 
and the Arts are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the 
Department’s performance and fairly represent indicated performance for 
the year ended 30 June 2011.  

Independence  

In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence 
requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the Australian Auditing 
Standards, and other relevant ethical requirements.  

 

COLIN MURPHY  
AUDITOR GENERAL  
9 September 2011 
 
4th Floor Dumas House 2 Havelock Street West Perth 6005 Western Australia Tel: 08 9222 7500 Fax: 
08 9322 5664  
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORSPERFORMANCE INDICATORSPERFORMANCE INDICATORSPERFORMANCE INDICATORS    

    

CERTCERTCERTCERTIFICATION OF IFICATION OF IFICATION OF IFICATION OF KEY KEY KEY KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORSPERFORMANCE INDICATORSPERFORMANCE INDICATORSPERFORMANCE INDICATORS    

CULTURE AND ARTS PORTFOLIO 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 

 

 

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate 
for assisting users to assess the performance of the culture and the arts portfolio, and fairly represent the 
performance of the portfolio for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.  At the date of signing I am not 
aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars included in the performance indicators 
misleading or inaccurate. 

 

 

Allanah Lucas 
ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY 

8 September 2011 
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPI)KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPI)KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPI)KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPI)

Introduction 
The Department’s KPIs have been developed in accordance with 
Treasurer’s Instruction 904 to evaluate the portfolio’s performance in 
achieving the Government’s Desired Outcomes and provide an 
overview of the critical and material aspects of service provision.  
The KPIs measure performance at the whole of portfolio level.  The 
KPIs for each of the portfolio organisations support and contribute to 
the KPIs identified for the portfolio.  The result is a consolidated 
picture of what the culture and arts portfolio is delivering and the 
impact it is having on the community of Western Australia. 

The Department has commenced a review of the KPIs collected and 
reported across the portfolio to better measure the public value of 
the portfolio’s outcomes.  It is envisioned that these new measures 
will be first reported in 2012/13. 

Portfolio Services 
Services provided by the culture and arts portfolio are listed in the 
2010/11 Budget Papers under Culture and the Arts.  Funding for 
these services is primarily provided by Parliament through the 
Department, although some organisations within the portfolio also 
receive part of their appropriation directly.  The services listed are: 

1. Arts Industry Support; 

2. Screen Production Industry Support; 

3. Venue Management Services; 

4. Art Gallery Services; 

5. Library and Information Services; 

6. Museum Services; and 

7. Government Record Keeping and Archival Services. 

Notwithstanding the clustering of services under Culture and the 
Arts in the Budget Papers, the Department is directly responsible for 
producing services (1) and (7).  The balance are the responsibility of 
ScreenWest Inc. (2), Perth Theatre Trust (3), Art Gallery of Western 
Australia (4), State Library of Western Australia (5), and the Western 
Australian Museum (6).  

The services reflect the total business of the portfolio.  In 
accordance with their enabling legislation, each portfolio 
organisation separately prepares an annual report and reports on 
their performance with respect to the specific services they deliver. 

Government Goals 

The Department of Culture and the Arts contributes to the 
achievement of the Government Goal: 

“Greater focus on achieving results in key service 
delivery areas for the benefit of all Western 
Australians”. 

Government Desired Outcomes 

The Government’s Desired Outcomes for the portfolio are:  

A creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts 
sector; and 

Western Australia’s natural, cultural and documentary 
collections are preserved, accessible and sustainable. 

Achievement of the portfolio’s Government Desired Outcomes will 
facilitate the achievement of a creative community that participates 
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in and values culture and the arts as essential to the quality of life 
and well-being of all people throughout Western Australia.  The 
Outcomes and KPIs describe the consequence for the community of 
the services provided by the culture and arts portfolio.  

Market Research 

To measure the “Sustainability” and “Accessibility” Key 
Effectiveness Indicators, the Department commissioned Patterson 
Market Research to conduct a telephone survey. A total of 400 
interviews were completed from Wednesday the 9th to Wednesday 
23rd of March 2011 with 301 interviews completed with respondents 
in the Perth metropolitan area and the remaining 99 completed with 
respondents from regional areas in Western Australia.  Respondents 
interviewed were aged 16 years or over and were randomly selected 
within each household by using the “next birthday” method where 
the respondent is the next person to celebrate a birthday in the 
household.  

Though the unweighted data was fairly well spread across the 
population, the final data was weighted to exactly reflect the 
Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) population statistics for 
Western Australia.  The population statistics used for calculating 
these weights were based on 2006 ABS Census data.  A sample of 
400 across Western Australia gives a theoretical survey error of 
±4.9 per cent at the 95 per cent level of confidence. 

Government Desired Outcome 1 

A creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts sector. 

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS 

Creativity 
2010/11 
Target 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

Proportion of funding 
applicants satisfied with the 
key elements of the 
“creative”1 funding programs. 

64% 67% 66% 74% 

Explanatory Notes – Creativity 

Approximately $36m was allocated to arts, film and screen 
organisations and projects in order for the sector to deliver 
outcomes that contribute to creativity.  Peer panels assess funding 
applications to ensure the proposed projects demonstrate significant 
and achievable “creative” outcomes for the people of Western 
Australia.  Comprehensive processes are in place to monitor and 
acquit the State’s investment in “creative” outcomes delivered via 
the funding programs.  This indicator measures the satisfaction of 
funding applicants with the funding process and provides an 
assessment of the culture and arts sector’s satisfaction with the 
creative outcomes being achieved through the DCA and 
ScreenWest “creative” funding programs. 

                                            

1  Creativity “depends on the cultural values, preferences, and realities of residents and other 
stakeholders in a given community” (Arts, culture, creativity and communities: a framework for 
measurement: The Urban Institute 2002).  
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Sustainability 
2010/11 
Target 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

Perceived value of culture 
and the arts (including the 
Screen Industry) to the 
Western Australian 
community. 

78% 77% 77% 76% 

Proportion of triennially 
funded organisations within 
the culture and arts sector 
regarded as financially 
healthy. 

24% 12% 16% 16% 

Explanatory Notes – Sustainability 

The first sustainability KPI provides an assessment of the extent to 
which the community values the culture and arts sector, a key 
element in the sustainability of the sector.  This indicator was 
measured by the Arts Monitor community survey instrument 
administered by Patterson Market Research.  The overall index 
score for the combined culture and arts sector and the screen 
industry is 65 per cent, the same result as last year. 

The second sustainability KPI, which is also utilised by the Australia 
Council for the Arts, provides an indication of the financial health 
and sustainability of the triennially funded organisations that make 
up a significant proportion of Western Australia’s subsidised culture 
and arts sector.  The assessment is based upon the percentage of 
triennially funded organisations that meet all of the following 
indicators:  

Reserves greater than 20 per cent of turnover; 

Working Capital greater than 2.0 (asset/liability ratio); and  

Cash reserves of greater than 10 weeks worth of expenditure. 

The proportion of triennially funded organisations within the culture 
and arts sector regarded as financially healthy in 2011/12 is 12%.  
Each year a record is kept of the financial health of 25 organisations 
which are funded by the Department on a triennial contract basis.  In 
the previous two years the number of organisations meeting the 
three specific criteria from their annual financial accounts had been 
four each year. 

In 2010/11 two organisations which had previously been financially 
strong, reported reduced working capital and so did not meet all the 
criteria for financial health.  This was partly offset by another 
organisation which for the first time moved into the “healthy” 
category.  

Accessibility 
2010/11 
Target 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

Proportion of Western 
Australians that perceive 
culture and arts sector 
(including the Screen Industry) 
events to be accessible. 

62% 61% 62% 60% 

Explanatory Notes – Accessibility 

The accessibility KPI provides an assessment of the extent to which 
the West Australian community perceive culture and arts sector 
events and/or productions to be accessible.  This indicator was 
measured by the Arts Monitor community survey instrument 
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administered by Patterson Market Research.  The overall index 
score for the combined culture and arts sector and the screen 
industry was 61 per cent. 

The Arts Monitor survey indicated that 36% find arts and cultural 
activities ‘easy’ for the West Australian public to attend or participate 
in and 25% do not.  The proportion of respondents who perceive 
access to be ‘easy’ dropped significantly from 42% last year while 
the proportion who perceived access to be ‘not easy’ rose from 
21%.  The accessibility of arts and culture in Western Australia is 
less positive than in the previous year.  The most reported barrier to 
attendance was “price” (30% compared to 32% last year).  There 
was a significant increase in the number of respondents that 
reported “family commitments” as a barrier to attendance, rising 
from 14% last year to 27% in the current survey.  The only other 
significant barrier to attendance reported was “competing interests 
with other activities” and this dropped from 30% last year to 25% 
this year. 

As expected, respondents from regional Western Australia were 
significantly more likely to rate arts and cultural activities as ‘not 
easy’ to attend or to participate in (31%) compared to people in the 
Perth metropolitan area (23%).  This trend is consistent with findings 
in previous years. 

The proportion of respondents who indicated that it is ‘not easy’ to 
view Western Australian produced film and TV events or productions 
has significantly dropped over time from 43% in 2008 to 35% in the 
current survey.  26% consider access to be easy.  This result is 
comparable to last year.   

In 2011 the index score for how accessible Western Australian TV 
events and film productions is calculated to be 58%, which is the 
same as in 2010. 

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS 

Key Efficiency Indicators 2010/11 
Target 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

 

 

Service 
1 

Arts Industry 
Support 

Average cost per 
grant application 
processed 

 

$807 

 

$856 

 

$831 

 

$991 

 

 

Service 
2 

Screen 
Production 
Industry Support 

Average cost per 
grant application 
processed. 

 

$2,921 

 

$2,579 

 

$2,525 

 

$2,853 

 

 

Service 
3 

Venue 
Management 
Services 

Average cost per 
performance 

 

$21,252 

 

$35,300 

 

$22,568 

 

$22,219 

Explanatory Notes – Key Efficiency Indicator 

The Outcome 1 Key Efficiency Indicators relate the level of resource 
input to the services provided.  Measurement of these indicators 
excludes the grants funding allocation that is provided to Arts 
Industry Support and Screen Production Industries. 

The increase in the average cost per grant application for Arts 
Industry Support is due to the number of applications being lower 
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than last year, and below target.  The overall cost of delivering Arts 
Industry Support was also reduced.  

The average cost per performance is higher than budgeted due to a 
number of factors including: funding for the Albany Entertainment 
Centre was not budgeted for; increased revenue from the Albany 
Entertainment Centre and the State Theatre Centre resulted in 
increased expenditure; and His Majesty’s Theatre facade 
maintenance, and Albany Entertainment Centre and State Theatre 
Centre equipment budgeted as capital being recognised as 
expensed.  

Government Desired Outcome 2 
Western Australia’s natural, cultural and documentary collections 
are preserved, accessible and sustainable. 

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS 

Preservation 
2010/11 
Target 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

Extent to which Western 
Australia’s natural, cultural and 
documentary collections, that 
require preservation, are 
preserved. 

 

84% 

 

82% 

 

82% 

 

83% 

Explanatory Notes – Preservation 

The preservation KPI provides an assessment of the extent to which 
the State’s art, museum, heritage and archives collections are 
preserved.  Preservation of the entire collection is not required, 
therefore this measure only relates to that part of the collection that 
is determined by the portfolio organisations as requiring 

preservation.  The indicator measures the extent to which the 
portfolio’s collection preservation outcomes have been met. 

Accessibility 
2010/11 
Target 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

The number of 
accesses to Western 
Australia’s natural, 
cultural and 
documentary collections 
per capita2. 

Accesses 
Per Capita 

2.445 

Accesses 
Per Capita 

2.063 

Accesses 
Per Capita 

2.096 

Accesses 
Per Capita 

2.071 

Percentage of clients 
satisfied with the 
services associated with 
accessing Western 
Australia’s natural, 
cultural and 
documentary 
collections. 

90% 93% 86% 87% 

Number of Accesses: 5,525,600 4,779,778 4,758,089 4,563,686 

 

                                            

2  WA Population (per capita) based on ABS Data Table 3101.1 (WA) - 2008/09 = 2,163.2; 2009/10 = 
2,259.5 and 2010/11 = 2,317.1 
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Explanatory Notes – Accessibility Per Capita 

The accessibility KPIs provide the number of accesses and the 
number of accesses per capita to the State’s art, museum, heritage 
and archives collections and the level of satisfaction associated with 
the various aspects of service delivery associated with accessing 
the State’s collections.  The number of accesses is based on 
Museum, Art Gallery, State Library and State Records Office visitor 
attendance figures, and accesses via Internet User Sessions etc.  
Accesses for the State Library include the number of material 
exchanges between the State Library and Local Government public 
libraries.   

Access targets for the Art Gallery and State Records Office were 
both exceeded, however targets for the State Library and the 
Museum were not met.  The State Library replaced software used to 
count internet visitor accesses after the target was set.  The new 
software gave greater accuracy to the count, but resulted in a lower 
figure recorded than targeted.  The drop reported by the Museum is 
also due to lower than anticipated internet visitors.  The Museum 
consolidated a large number of websites into their main website and 
improved information on third party sites such as Wikipedia and 
Google Maps for simple internet enquiries.  Recording of unique 
visitor sessions was also improved.  These initiatives resulted in 
fewer visitors spending on average 50% more time on the Museum 
website. 

Accesses per capita and number of accesses for both 2008/09 and 
2009/10 have been recalculated from those figures previously 
reported.  Both the State Library and Art Gallery changed their data 
collection mechanisms and the numbers have been recast for 
comparative purposes. 

Sustainability3 
2010/11 
Target 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

Value of collection renewal, 
content development, 
expansion and/or maintaining 
the physical integrity of the 
collection as a proportion of 
collection value. 

5% 6% 5% 5% 

Explanatory Notes – Sustainability 

The sustainability KPI provides an assessment of the portfolio’s 
capacity to annually renew a portion of the collection, develop 
content, expand and/or maintain the physical integrity of the State’s 
art, museum and heritage collections. Collection renewal, content 
development, expansion and/or maintaining the physical integrity 
are essential to the sustainability of the collections. 

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS 

Key Efficiency Indicator 
2010/11 
Target 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

Service 
4 

Art Gallery Services 

Average cost of Art 
Gallery services per Art 
Gallery access. 

$37 $29 $29 $37 

                                            

3. The SRO collection has not been valued and therefore is not included in this KPI.  
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Key Efficiency Indicator 
2010/11 
Target 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

2008/09 
Actual 

Library and Information 
Services 

Average cost of State 
Library services per 
State Library 
access/client interaction. 

$9 $13 $11 $15 

Service 
5 

Average cost of State 
Library services per new 
public library collection 
item. 

$69 $84 $71 $64 

Service 
6 

Museum Services 

Average cost of Museum 
services per Museum 
access. 

$43 $24 $41 $40 

Government 
Recordkeeping and 
Archival Services 

Average cost of State 
Records Office (SRO) 
services per access to 
the State archives 
collection. 

$10 $12 $9 $16 

Service 
7 

Average cost of SRO 
services per regulatory 
service. 

$344 $459 $474 $355 

Explanatory Notes – Key Efficiency Indicator 

The Outcome 2 Key Efficiency Indicators relate the level of resource 
input to the services provided. 

State Library’s average cost of delivering new public library 
collection items is higher than budgeted with the number of items 
supplied lower than expected on an increased cost base.   During 
the year significant reforms were made to the procurement and 
processing of public library materials requiring staff to be retrained, 
taking away capacity to deliver new materials.  The average cost per 
access is also higher than anticipated with less than the expected 
number of accesses made to services.  Access targets were set 
before new software for counting internet visitors was implemented 
resulting in a more accurate, but lower number of accesses. 

The average cost of Museum and Art Gallery services is much lower 
than budgeted due to a much higher number of accesses than 
anticipated. 

The average cost of accesses and regulatory services provided by 
the SRO is higher than estimated due to a general increase in 
service costs. 
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CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTSCERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTSCERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTSCERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS    
 

 

For the year ended 30 June 2011 

 

 

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Culture and the Arts have 
been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 
from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2011 and the financial position as at 30 June 2011. 

 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any 
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 

 

    

Allanah Lucas     Tony Loiacono CPA 
Director General     Chief Financial Officer 

Date: 8 September 2011    Date: 8 September 2011 
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Statement of Comprehensive IncomeStatement of Comprehensive IncomeStatement of Comprehensive IncomeStatement of Comprehensive Income    
For the year ended 30 June 2011 

 

 Note 2011  2010 

  $’000  $’000 

COST OF SERVICES     

Expenses     

Employee benefits expense 5 48,640  48,407 

Supplies and services 6 6,723  4,889 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 7 1,005  1,011 

Accommodation expenses 8 1,957  1,973 

Grants and subsidies 9 32,784  31,415 

Other expenses  10 412  296 

Total cost of services  91,521  87,991 
     

Income     
     

Revenue     

User fees and charges 11 458  780 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 12 990  166 

Other revenue 13 2,135  1,324 

Total revenue  3,583  2,270 

     

Total income other than income from State 
Government  3,583  2,270 

       

NET COST OF SERVICES  87,938  85,721 

 

Income from State Government      

Service appropriation 15  91,744  89,411 

Assets transferred  -  (68) 

Royalties for Regions Fund  14  - 

Resources received free of charge  142  132 

Total income from State Government  91,900  89,475 

       

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  3,962  3,754 

     

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME     

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 26 593  4,226 

Total other comprehensive income  593  4,226 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 
THE PERIOD  4,555  7,980 

     

Refer to the 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'. 

     

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Financial PositionStatement of Financial PositionStatement of Financial PositionStatement of Financial Position    
As at 30 June 2011 
 Note 2011  2010 

  $’000  $’000 

ASSETS     

Current Assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 27 20,231  20,002 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16, 27 313  82 

Receivables 17 3,626  5,467 

Amounts receivable for services 18 2,588  3,317 

Other current assets 19 31  158 

Total Current Assets  26,789  29,026 
     

Non-Current Assets     

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16, 27 1,037  853 

Receivables 17 200  230 

Property, plant and equipment 20 55,841  145,993 

Intangible assets 21 112  19 

Total Non-Current Assets  57,190  147,095 
       

TOTAL ASSETS  83,979  176,121 

     

LIABILITIES     

Current Liabilities     

Payables 23 27,590  26,037 

Provisions 24 8,676  7,649 

Other current liabilities 25 3  285 

Total Current Liabilities  36,269  33,971 

 

 

Non-Current Liabilities     

Provisions 24 3,895  3,534 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  3,895  3,534 

     

TOTAL LIABILITIES  40,164  37,505 

       

NET ASSETS  43,815  138,616 

     

EQUITY 26    

Contributed equity  875  100,231 

Reserves  42,330  41,737 

Accumulated surplus (deficit)  610  (3,352) 

TOTAL EQUITY  43,815  138,616 

     

Refer to the 'Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service'.  

     

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes in EquityStatement of Changes in EquityStatement of Changes in EquityStatement of Changes in Equity    
For the year ended 30 June 2011 

Note 

Contributed 

equity Reserves 

Accumulated 

surplus (deficit) Total Equity 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

      

Balance at 1 July 2009 26 103,130 37,511 (7,106) 133,535 

Total comprehensive income for the year   4,226 3,754 7,980 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      

 Capital appropriations  (2,899) - - (2,899) 

 Other contributions by owners  - - - - 

 Distributions to owners  - - - - 

Total    (2,899) - - (2,899) 

           

Balance at 30 June 2010  100,231 41,737 (3,352) 138,616 

       

Balance at 1 July 2010  100,231 41,737 (3,352) 138,616 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - 593 3,962 4,555 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      

 Capital appropriations  13,468 - - 13,468 

 Other contributions by owners  2,575 - - 2,575 

 Distributions to owners  (115,399) - - (115,399) 

Total    (99,356) - - (99,356) 

           

Balance at 30 June 2011  875 42,330 610 43,815 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Statement of Cash FlowsStatement of Cash FlowsStatement of Cash FlowsStatement of Cash Flows    
For the year ended 30 June 2011
 
 Note 2011  2010 

  $’000  $’000 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT     

Service appropriation  90,510  85,139 

Capital contributions  11,563  (2,899) 

Holding account drawdowns  4,538  4,638 

Regional for Royalties Fund  14  - 

Net cash provided by State Government  106,625  86,878 

     

Utilised as follows:     

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

Payments     

Employee benefits  (42,433)  (42,540) 

Supplies and services  (5,437)  (4,294) 

Accommodation  (1,957)  (1,973) 

Grants and subsidies  (33,173)  (35,018) 

GST payments on purchases  (6,573)  (7,362) 

GST payments to taxation authority  (260)  (162) 

Other payments  (4,575)  (4,856) 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Note 2011  2010 

  $’000  $’000 

Receipts     

User charges and fees  458  780 

Commonwealth grants and contributions  990  166 

GST receipts on sales  268  (238) 

GST receipts from taxation authority  6,690  7,307 

Other receipts  3,866  (2,711) 

Net cash (used in) operating activities 27 (82,136)  (90,901) 

     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES     

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (23,845)  (39,578) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (23,845)  (39,578) 

     

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  644  (43,601) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
of period  20,937  64,538 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF PERIOD 27 21,581  20,937 

 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 
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SSSSchedule of Income and Expenses bchedule of Income and Expenses bchedule of Income and Expenses bchedule of Income and Expenses by Servicey Servicey Servicey Service    
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 Arts Industry 

Support 
Recordkeeping and Archival 

Services 
Services provided to external 

agencies 
Total 

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

COST OF SERVICES         

Expenses         

Employee benefits expenses 4,661 4,409 2,064 1,887 41,915 42,111 48,640 48,407 

Supplies and services 1,225 1,881 565 232 4,933 2,776 6,723 4,889 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 158 158 57 65 790 788 1,005 1,011 

Accommodation expenses 203 276 41 55 1,713 1,642 1,957 1,973 

Grants and subsidies 27,965 31,150 31 150 4,788 115 32,784 31,415 

Appropriations to agencies - 1,035 - 207 - (1,242) - - 

Other expenses 44 587 9 119 359 (410) 412 296 

Total cost of services 34,256 39,496 2,767 2,715 54,498 45,780 91,521 87,991 

         

Income         

User charges and fees  34 38 97 83 327 659 458 780 

Sale of Goods - 57 17 23 (17) (80) - - 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 620 60 2 (8) 368 114 990 166 

Other revenue 246 454 90 85 1,799 785 2,135 1,324 

Total income other than income from State 
Government 

900 609 206 183 2,477 1,478 3,583 2,270 

NET COST OF SERVICES 33,356 38,887 2,561 2,532 52,021 44,302 87,938 85,721 

         

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT         

Service Appropriation 11,238 13,664 4,293 4,348 76,213 71,399 91,744 89,411 

Grants and subsidies from State Government - - - - 14 - 14 - 

Assets assumed (transferred) (10) (15) (2) (3) 12 (50) - (68) 

Resources received free of charge 20 574 4 115 118 (557) 142 132 

Total income from State Government 11,248 14,223 4,295 4,460 76,357 70,792 91,900 89,475 

Surplus/deficit for the period (22,108) (24,664) 1,734 1,928 24,336 26,490 3,962 3,754 

The Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by ServiceSchedule of Assets and Liabilities by ServiceSchedule of Assets and Liabilities by ServiceSchedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service    
As at 30 June 2011 
 

Arts Industry Support Recordkeeping and 
Archival Services 

Services provided to 
external agencies 

Total 

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 

        

Assets         

Current Assets 3,970 4,437 1,117 1,210 21,702 23,379 26,789 29,026 

Non-Current Assets 8,359 21,978 4,298 6,189 44,533 118,928 57,190 147,095 

Total assets 12,329 26,415 5,415 7,399 66,235 142,307 83,979 176,121 

         

Liabilities         

Current Liabilities 5,439 5,228 1,088 1,046 29,740 27,697 36,267 33,971 

Non-Current Liabilities 584 530 117 106 3,194 2,898 3,895 3,534 

Total Liabilities 6,023 5,758 1,205 1,152 32,934 30,595 40,162 37,505 

         

NET ASSETS 6,306 20,657 4,210 6,247 33,301 111,712 43,817 138,616 

         

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Summary Summary Summary Summary oooof Consolidated Account Appropriations f Consolidated Account Appropriations f Consolidated Account Appropriations f Consolidated Account Appropriations aaaand Income Estimatesnd Income Estimatesnd Income Estimatesnd Income Estimates    
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
    2011 2011   2011 2010  
    Estimate Actual Variance  Actual Actual Variance 
    $'000 $'000 $'000   $'000 $'000 $'000 
DELIVERY OF SERVICES         
Item 77 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 77,989 77,987 (2)  77,987 75,186 2,801 
           
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes:         
 - Lotteries Commission Act 1990  13,347 13,000 (347)  13,000 13,500 (500) 
 - Salaries and Allowances Act 1975  757 757 0  757 725 32 
           
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 92,093 91,744 (349)   91,744 89,411 2,333 
           
CAPITAL         
Item 147 Capital appropriations  13,468 11,563 (1,905)  11,563 1,541 10,022 
           
    13,468 11,563 (1,905)   11,563 1,541 10,022 
                  
GRAND TOTAL  105,561  103,307  (2,254)   103,307  90,952  12,355 

           
Details of Expenses by Service                
Arts Industry Support  44,811 34,256 (10,555)  34,256 34,041 215 
Recordkeeping and Archival Services  2,061 2,767 706  2,767 2,346 421 
Services provided to external agencies  45,221 54,498 9,277  54,498 55,032 (534) 
Total Cost of Services  92,093 91,521 (572)   91,521 91,419 102 
Less total income  0 (3,583) (3,583)   (3,583) (3,479) (104) 
Net Cost of Services  92,093 87,938 (4,155)  87,938 87,940 (2) 
Adjustments  0 3,806 3,806  3,806 1,471 2,335 
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 92,093 91,744 (349)   91,744 89,411 2,333 
           
Capital Expenditure         
Purchase of non-current physical assets  13,468 11,563 (1,905)  11,563 1,541 10,022 
Capital Contribution (appropriation)  13,468 11,563 (1,905)   11,563 1,541 10,022 

 
• Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation. 
• Other external agencies comprise the Art Gallery of WA, The Library Board of WA,  Western Australian Museum and Perth Theatre Trust whose funding is 

provided through direct appropriation and services received free of charge from the Department of Culture and the Arts. 

• Note 32 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2011 and between the actual results for 
2010 and 2011 
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Notes to the Financial Statements Notes to the Financial Statements Notes to the Financial Statements Notes to the Financial Statements 

Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards 

General  
The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2011 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting Standards' refers to 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standard Board (AASB). 

The Department has adopted any applicable, new and revised 
Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates. 

Early adoption of standards 

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting 
Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. No 
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended 
but not operative have been early adopted by the Department for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2011. 

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting 
policies 

(a) General statement 

The financial statements constitute general purpose financial 
statements that have been prepared in accordance with the 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer’s 

instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s 
instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions are 
legislative provisions governing the preparation of financial 
statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board. 

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant 
financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification 
and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements. 

(b) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting using the historical cost convention, modified by the 
revaluation of land and buildings which have been measured at fair 
value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial 
statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods 
presented unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000).  

The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the 
Department’s accounting policies that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are 
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disclosed at Note 3. ‘Judgements made by management in applying 
accounting policies’. 

(c) Reporting entity 

The reporting entity comprises the Department of Culture and the 
Arts.  The Department has no related bodies. 

Mission 

The Department’s mission is to provide leadership, support and 
services to ensure that Western Australians have easy and 
affordable access to a diverse range of innovative ideas, knowledge 
and cultural experiences. 

The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary 
appropriations. The Department is supplemented by fees received 
for the provision of services that are charged out on a full cost 
recovery basis. The fees charged are determined by prevailing 
market forces. The financial statements encompass all funds through 
which the Department controls resources to carry on its functions. 

Services 

The Department provides the following services: 

Service 1: Arts Industry Support 

To provide an integrated and unifying means of delivering policy and 
programs that will assist in the development of creative people, 
communities, economies and environments for the public of Western 
Australia. 

Service 2: Recordkeeping and Archival Services 

The State Records Office delivers records management and archival 
services to State and Local Government agencies and the general 
public. 

Service 3: Services to external agencies 

Ensures that corporate services are delivered to agencies within the 
Culture and Arts portfolio. 

(d) Contributed equity 

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-
Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of 
equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government 
(the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to 
transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity 
contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as 
contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to 
Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly 
to Contributed equity. 

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a 
result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are 
designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-
discretionary and non-reciprocal. Refer also to note 26 ‘Equity’. 

(e) Income 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable.  Revenue is recognised for the major business activities 
as follows: 
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Sale of goods 

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other 
assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership control 
transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably. 

Provision of services 

Revenue is recognised upon delivery of the service to the client or by 
reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. 

Interest 

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

Service Appropriations 

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at nominal value 
in the period in which the Department gains control of the 
appropriated funds.  The Department gains control of appropriated 
funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or 
credited to the 'Amounts receivable for services' (holding account) 
held at Treasury. 

The Department receives funding from the Lotteries Commission 
under the provisions of Section 22 of the Lotteries Commission Act 
(1990).  This provides for receipts based on five per cent of the net 
lotteries and games subscriptions received by the Lotteries 
Commission.  Accordingly all funds have been received as at 30 
June. This amount is recognised as Service Appropriations in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Net Appropriation Determination 

The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed 
receipts to be retained for services under the control of the 

Department.  In accordance with the determination specified in the 
2010-2011 Budget Statements, the Department retained $3.58million 
in 2011 ($2.27 million in 2010) from the following: 

• proceeds from fees and charges; 

• Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions; and 

• other departmental revenue. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains 
control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when 
cash is received. 

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by 
owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services 
are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and 
the services would be purchased if not donated. 

Gains 

Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a 
net basis.  These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current 
assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 

(f) Property, plant and equipment  

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 

Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are 
recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed 
(depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and 
equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income [other than where they 
form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total]. 
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Initial recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. 

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Subsequent measurement 

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model 
is used the for the measurement of land and buildings and the cost 
model for all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings 
are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings 
only) and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of 
property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Where market based evidence is available, the fair value of land and 
buildings is determined on the basis of current market buying values 
determined by reference to recent market transactions. When 
buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, 
the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the 
revalued amount. 

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and 
buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This normally 
applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is 
restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is determined by 
reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset, ie. the depreciated replacement cost. 
Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated 
replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the 
accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. 

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) 
and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not 
differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting 
period.  

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in 
assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in 
determining estimated useful life. Professional judgment by the 
valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear 
distinction between market type assets and existing use assets. 

Derecognition 

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item or property, plant and 
equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained 
in the asset revaluation surplus. 

Asset revaluation surplus 

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and 
decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as described in 
'note 20. Property, plant and equipment'. 

Depreciation 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects 
the consumption of their future economic benefits. 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated 
using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed 
annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset 
are: 
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Buildings 40 years 

Leasehold improvements 40 years 

Plant and equipment  5 to 10 Years 

Computer hardware and software (a) 4 years 

Furniture and fittings 10 years 

Collections 0 to100 years 

 (a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware. 

Works of art controlled by the Department are classified as property, 
plant and equipment, which are anticipated to have very long and 
indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any material 
sense, been consumed during the reporting period and so no 
depreciation has been recognised. 

(g) Intangible assets 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and 
internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are 
capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) 
over their useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are 
immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially 
recognised at cost.  For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal 
cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the 
asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated 
for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life) on the 
straight line basis using rates which are reviewed annually.  All 
intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful 
life and zero residual value.  

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible assets are: 

Software (a)   3 to 5 years 

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related 
hardware. 

Licences 

Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Computer Software 

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as 
property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of 
the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software 
costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition. 
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Website costs 

Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred 
unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset 
when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in 
relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a web 
site, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase 
are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a web site, to 
the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits 
that can be reliably measured, are capitalised. 

(h) Impairment of assets 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for 
any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount 
is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the 
carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is 
recognised. As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an 
asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
depreciated replacement cost. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where 
an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the 
replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in 
useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to 
verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the 
level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic 
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling 
replacement costs. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets 
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of 

each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication 
of impairment. 

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the 
higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future 
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets 
carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair 
value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where 
fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement 
cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable 
amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for 
indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

(i) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as 
held for sale 

All Crown land holdings are vested in the Department by the 
Government. The Department of Regional Development and Lands 
(DRDL) is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. The 
Department transfers the Crown land and any attached buildings to 
DRDL when the land becomes available for sale. 

(j) Leases 

The Department holds operating leases for office accommodation. 
Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the 
lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from 
the leased properties. 

(k) Financial instruments 

In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial 
instrument: 

• Loans and receivables; and 

• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 
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Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following 
classes: 

Financial Assets 

• Cash and cash equivalents 

• Restricted cash and cash equivalents 

• Receivables  

• Amounts Receivable for Services 

Financial Liabilities 

• Payables 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at 
fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face 
value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the 
transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate 
applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the 
effect of discounting is not material. 

(l) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash 
equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets 
comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 

(m) Accrued salaries 

Accrued salaries [refer to note 23 ‘Payables’] represent the amount 
due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the pay 
date for the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide 
with the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled 
within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Department of 
Culture and the Arts considers the carrying amount of accrued 
salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value. 

The accrued salaries suspense account [refer to Note 16 
‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’] consists of amounts paid 
annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years 
to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year 
when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is 
received on this account. 

(n) Amounts receivable for services (holding account) 

The Department receives funding on an accrual basis that 
recognises the full annual cash and non-cash cost of services. The 
appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset 
(holding account receivable) that is accessible on the emergence of 
the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset 
replacement. 

(o) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount 
less an allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The 
collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and 
any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the 
allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts 
(doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the 
Department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying 
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amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 
30 days. 

(p) Payables 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the 
Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result 
of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days. 

(q) Provisions 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are 
recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 

Provisions - Employee Benefits 

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of 
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period. 

Annual Leave and Long Service Leave 

The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised and 
measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when 
the liabilities are settled. 

Annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled 
within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected 
to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given 
to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer superannuation contributions. In 
addition, the long service leave liability also considers the 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. 

The expected future payments are discounted using market yields 
at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds 
with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. 

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as current liabilities as the Department does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting period. 

A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has 
completed one year of service. An actuarial assessment of long 
service leave undertaken by PriceWaterhouse at 30 June 2009 
determined that the liability measured using the short-hand method 
was not materially different from the liability measured using the 
present value of expected future payments. 

Superannuation 

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) 
administers public sector superannuation arrangements in Western 
Australia in accordance with legislative requirements 

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined 
benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the 
Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump 
sum scheme closed to new members since 1995. 
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The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the 
GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the 
unfunded GSS transfer benefits due to members who-transferred 
from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other 
GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by 
the Department to the GESB. The concurrently funded part of the 
GSS is a defined contribution scheme as these contributions 
extinguish all liabilities in respect of the concurrently funded GSS 
obligations. 

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of 
employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a 
defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the 
concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the 
Department to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the 
related superannuation liability. 

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who are 
not members of either the Pension or the GSS Schemes became 
non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation 
Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 
16 April 2007 become members of the GESB Super Scheme 
(GESBS). Both of these schemes are accumulation schemes. The 
Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of 
employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s 
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. These 
contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in 
respect of the WSS and GESBS. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension 
Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the 
employer’s share. 

Provisions -other 

Employment On-Costs 

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, 
are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as 
liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate 
has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other 
expenses’ and are not included as part of the Department’s 
‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in 
‘Employment on-costs provision’. 

(r) Superannuation expense 

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income comprises of employer contributions paid to the GSS 
(concurrent contributions), the WSS, and the GESBS. The 
employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is 
paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB. 

(s) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost 

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be 
reliably measured are recognised as income at fair value. Where 
the resource received represents a service that the Department 
would otherwise pay for, a corresponding expense is recognised. 
Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position.  

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies 
are separately disclosed under Income from State Government in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(t) Comparative figures 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be 
comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year. 
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Note 3. Judgements made by management in 
applying accounting policies 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to 
make judgements about the application of accounting policies that 
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. The Department evaluates these judgements regularly. 

 

Operating lease commitment 

The Department has entered into a commercial lease for office 
accommodation and it has determined that the lessor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 
Accordingly, the lease has been classified as an operating lease. 

 

Note 4. Disclosure of changes in accounting 
policy and estimates 

 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 

The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting 
Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2010  that impacted on the Department: 

AASB 2009-5  Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from the Annual Improvements Project [AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 
117, 118, 136 & 139].  

  

 Under amendments to AASB 117, the classification of land 
elements of all existing leases has been reassessed to 
determine whether they are in the nature of operating or finance 
leases. As leases of land & buildings recognised in the financial 
statements have not been found to significantly expose the 
Department to the risks/rewards attributable to control of land, 
no changes to accounting estimates have been included in the 
Financial Statements and Notes to the Financial Statements. 

 

 Under amendments to AASB 107, only expenditures that result 
in a recognised asset are eligible for classification as investing 
activities in the Statement of Cash Flows. All investing cashflows 
reported in the Department’s Statement of Cash Flows relate to 
increases in recognised assets. 

 

Voluntary changes in accounting policy 

The Department did not make any voluntary changes to its 
Accounting Policy in 2010/11 
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements. Consequently, the Department has not applied early the following Australian Accounting Standards  that have been issued and that may impact the 
Department. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards  from their application date: 

 Operative for reporting periods 
beginning on/after 

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 
112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 12].   

 

The amendment to AASB 7 requires modification to the disclosure of categories of financial assets. The 
Department does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The disclosure of 
categories of financial assets in the notes will change.  

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 
1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052].  

 

This Standard introduces a number of terminology changes. There is no financial impact on the Authority 
resulting from the application of this revised Standard 

1 Jan 2011 

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards. 

 

This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of reporting 
requirements for preparing general purpose financial statements. 

 

The Standard does not have any financial impact in the Department. However it may affect disclosures in 
the financial statements of the Department if the reduced disclosure requirements apply. 

1 July 2013 

AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 

 

This Standard makes amendments to many Australian Accounting Standards, including Interpretations, to 
introduce reduced disclosure requirements into these pronouncements for application by certain types of 
entities. 

 

The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on the Department. However this Standard 
may reduce some note disclosures in financial statements of the Department. 

1 July 2013 
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 Operative for reporting periods 
beginning on/after 

AASB 2010-5 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 
133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042] (October 2010).  

 

This Standard introduces a number of terminology changes as well as minor presentation changes to the 
notes to the Financial Statements. There is no financial impact on the Authority resulting from the 
application of this revised Standard 

1 Jan 2011 

AASB 2010-6 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets [AASB 
1 & AASB 7].  

 

This Standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting Standards, introducing additional 
presentation and disclosure requirements for Financial Assets. 

 

The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on the Authority. DTF has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the amendments to these Standards for agencies 

1 July 2011 

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 
5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127].  

 

This Amending Standard makes consequential adjustments to other Standards as a result of issuing 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments in December 2010.  

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments.  

 

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing 
a number of changes to accounting treatments. 

 

The Standard was reissued on 6 Dec 2010 and the Department is currently determining the impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jan 2013 
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 Operative for reporting periods 
beginning on/after 

AASB 1054  Australian Additional Disclosures.  

 

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project, removes disclosure requirements from other 
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and 
New Zealand Accounting Standards. 

1 July 2011 

AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project 
[AASB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 128, 132 & 134 and Interpretations 2, 112 & 113]. 

 

This Amending Standard, in conjunction with AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures, removes 
disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve 
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards.  

1 July 2011 

AASB 2011-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project – 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 101 & AASB 1054]. 

 

This Amending Standard removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates them 
in a single Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting 
Standards for reduced disclosure reporting.  

1 July 2013 
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Note 5. Employee benefits expense 

 2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Wages and salaries 
(a)

 37,834  37,338 

Superannuation - defined contribution plans 
(b)

 4,406  4,211 

Long service leave 
(c)

 1,876  1,756 

Annual leave 
(c)

 4,152  4,775 

Other related expenses 372  327 

48,640  48,407 

     

 

(a)
Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits 

tax component. 

(b)
Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super 

Scheme  (contributions paid). 

(c)
Includes a superannuation contribution component. 

Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance are included at 
note 10 'Other expenses'. The employment on-costs liability is included at note 
24 'Provisions'. 

Note 6. Supplies and services 
2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 Catering 25  28 

 Communications 197  252 

 Consumables 96  199 

 Contracts 169  113 

 Equipment 169  74 

 Freight 65  59 

 Insurance & licences 200  288 

 Leases 109  98 

 Legal 25  26 

 Management fees 264  153 

 Professional fees 4,561  2,926 

 Repairs & maintenance 101  112 

 Temporary Personnel 356  279 

 Travel 185  219 

 Other  201  63 

 6,723  4,889 
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Note 7. Depreciation and amortisation expense 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 Depreciation    

 Buildings 883  922 

 Leasehold improvements 7  7 

 Plant, equipment, computer hardware and software 95  78 

 Total depreciation 985  1,007 

 

 Amortisation    

 Intangible Assets 20  4 

 Total amortisation 20  4 

 

 Total depreciation and amortisation 1,005  1,011 

Note 8. Accommodation expenses 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

            

 Cleaning 61  57 

 Electricity, gas and water 314  76 

 Facilities management and accommodation 357  353 

 Lease Rentals 1,016  1,061 

 Repairs and maintenance 209  426 

 1,957  1,973 

 

Note 9. Grants and subsidies 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 Recurrent    

 Arts Agency and Panels 28,726  24,879 

 ScreenWest 2,500  3,700 

 Other 1,558  2,836 

  32,784  31,415 

Note 10. Other expenses 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 

 
Employment on-costs 

(a)
  

(see note 5 'Employee benefits expense') 308  116 

 Donations and Prizes -  44 

 Other 
(b)

 104  136 

  412  296 

 

(a) 
Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs.  

The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service 
leave liability is included at note 24 'Provisions'. Superannuation contributions 
accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not 
included in employment on-costs. 

 

(b)
 Includes doubtful debts expense and audit fee. Refer also to  note 35. 

Remuneration of auditor. 
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Note 11. User charges and fees 
2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 

 Rent 77  233 

 Recoup of costs 381  547 

  458  780 

Note 12. Commonwealth grants and 
contributions 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

    

 Recurrent 990  166 

 
Included in the recurrent grants for 2010-11 is a grant from the Australia Council. 
The terms of the grant are that the funding will only be used in relation to the  
Playwright Development Program (PDP) and the Dramaturge Skills Development 
Program (DSDP). The grant has been recognised in its entirety upon receipt as 
the only condition set by the grantor relates to how the grant can be expended 
and there are no performance measures in terms of service delivery.  

Note 13. Other revenue 
2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 Recoup of prior year expenses 44  19 

 Recoups of salaries and worker's compensation costs -  614 

 Other
 (a)

 2,091  691 

  2,135  1,324 

 

 

(a) '
Other' comprise mainly of Grants and subsidies amounting to $1.4m and 

Recoups from other agencies amounting to $0.5m. The value of 'Other' was 
significantly higher than previous year due to a one off grant of $1.25m from 
government to fund the CHOGM festivities. 

Note 14. Net gain (loss) on disposal of non-
current assets. 
 
There were no net gain or loss on disposal of non-current assets in 2011 and 
2010. 

Note 15. Income from state government 
2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 Appropriation revenue received during the year:    

 Service appropriations 
(a)

 91,744  89,411 

  91,744  89,411 
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The following assets have been assumed from/(transferred to) other state 
government agencies during the financial year: (b) 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

  - plant and equipment 0  (68) 

 Total assets (transferred) 0  (68) 

 

 Royalties for Regions Fund 14  - 

 

 Resources received free of charge 
(c)

    

 
Determined on the basis of the following estimates 
provided by agencies:    

 
 - Department of Treasury and Finance - integrated 
procurement services 118  107 

  - State Solicitor's Office - legal services 24  25 

  142  132 

 

  91,900  89,475 

 (a) 
Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of services 

delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a 
receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation 
expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year. 

(b) 
Discretionary transfers of assets between State Government agencies are 

reported as assets assumed/(transferred) under Income from State Government. 
Non discretionary non-reciprocal transfers of net assets (ie. restructuring of 
administrative arrangements) have been classified as Contributions by owners 
(CBOs) under TI 955 and taken directly to equity. 

(c) 
Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal 

cost, the Department recognises revenues equivalent to the fair value of the 
assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably measured and 
which would have been purchased if they were not donated, and those fair 

values shall be recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable. Where the 
contribution of assets or services are in the nature of contributions by owners, 
the Department makes the adjustment direct to equity. 

Note 16. Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Current 

 Commonwealth funds - service delivery arrangement 
(a)

 313  82 

  313  82 

Non-current 

 Accrued salaries suspense account 
(b)

 1,037  853 

  1,037  853 

(a) 
The Department of Culture and the Arts and the Commonwealth Government 

have a Service Delivery Arrangement for the provision of services to the Indian 
Ocean Territories (Christmas and Cocos (Keeling) Islands).  

The Commonwealth Government recoups the Department the costs associated 
with these services (refer to note 40 'Service Delivery Arrangement - 
Commonwealth Grant'). 

(b)
 Amount held in the suspense account is only to be used for the purpose of 

meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years. 
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Note 17. Receivables 
2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 Current    

 Trade Debtors 3,099  4,799 

 Allowance for doubtful debts (12)  (12) 

 GST receivable 539  680 

 Total current 3,626  5,467 

 

 Non current    

 Receivables 200  230 

 Total non current 200  230 

 

 
Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of 
receivables:    

 

 Balance at start of year 12  17 

 
Doubtful debts expense  recognised in the income 
statement -  (5) 

 Amount recovered during the year -  - 

 Balance at the end of year 12  12 

 

Note 18. Amounts receivable for services 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 

 Current 2,588  3,317 

 Non-current -  - 

  2,588  3,317 

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations.  It is restricted in 
that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.  

Note 19. Other assets 
2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Current    

Prepayments 28  155 

Accrued Income 3  3 

Total current 31  158 

Note 20. Property, plant and equipment 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 Land    

 At fair value 
(a)

 20,280  31,570 

 Accumulated Impairment Losses -  - 

  20,280  31,570 
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2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 Buildings    

 At fair value 
(a)

 33,326  34,813 

 At cost 26  26 

 Works in progress 217  77,603 

 Accumulated depreciation (22)  (16) 

 Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

  33,547  112,426 

 

 Leasehold improvements    

 At cost 1,200  1,200 

 Accumulated depreciation (989)  (982) 

 Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

  211  218 

 

 Plant and equipment    

 At cost 735  716 

 Accumulated depreciation (513)  (531) 

 Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

  222  185 

 

 Furniture and fittings    

 At cost 63  62 

 Accumulated depreciation (22)  (15) 

 Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

  41  47 

 

 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 

 Collections    

 At fair value 1,477  1,477 

 Accumulated Depreciation (150)  (143) 

 Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

  1,327  1,334 

 

 Works of art    

 At fair value 213  179 

 At cost -  34 

 Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

  213  213 

     

  55,841  145,993 

 

(a)
 Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2010 by the Western Australian 

Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations were performed 
during the year ended 30 June 2011 and recognised at 30 June 2011. In 
undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market 
values for land: $20,280,0000 and buildings: $33,326,000. For the remaining 
balance, fair value of land and buildings was determined on the basis of 
depreciated replacement cost. See note 2(f) 'Property, plant and equipment'. 

The Department credits the accumulated depreciation to the asset account prior 

to revaluation and restates the net amount to the revalued amount.
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Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below. 

Land Buildings 
Leasehold 

improvements 

Plant, equipment, 
computer hardware & 

software 
Furniture and  

Fittings 
Works of Art and  

Collections  Total 

2011 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 

 

Carrying amount at start of year 
31,570 112,426 218 185 47 1,547  145,993 

Additions  23,337 - 125 - -  23,462 

Disposals   - - - -  - 

Revaluations 1,210 (617) - - - -  593 

Transfers
 (a)

 (12,500) (100,722) - - - -  (113,222) 

Depreciation and amortisation - (877) (7) (88) (6) (7)  (985) 

Carrying amount at end of year 20,280 33,547 211 222 41 1,540  55,841 

         

Land Buildings 
Leasehold 

improvements 

Plant, equipment, 
computer hardware & 

software 
Furniture and  

Fittings 
Works of Art 

and Collections  Total 

2010 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 

         

Carrying amount at start of year 32,060 69,257 225 162 53 1,520  103,277 

Additions - 39,409 - 88 - 34  39,531 

Disposals - - - - - -  - 

Revaluations (490) 4,682 - - - -  4,192 

Transfers - - - - - -  - 

Depreciation and amortisation - (922) (7) (65) (6) (7)  (1,007) 

Carrying amount at end of year 31,570 112,426 218 185 47 1,547  145,993 

(a)
 The State Theatre Centre was transferred to Perth Theatre Trust on 01 February 2011. 
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 Note 21. Intangible assets 
2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 Computer software    

 At cost 480  367 

 Accumulated amortisation (368)  (348) 

 Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

  112  19 

     

 Reconciliation    

 Carrying amount at start of year 19  10 

 Additions/(Disposals) 113  13 

 Transfers -  - 

 Amortisation expense (20)  (4) 

 Carrying amount at end of year 112  19 

Note 22. Impairment of assets 
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment, and 
intangible assets at 30 June 2011. 

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life 
during the reporting period and at balance sheet date there were no intangible 
assets not yet available for use. 

All surplus assets at 30 June 2011 have either been classified as assets held for 
sale or written-off. 

Note 23. Payables 
2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 Current    

 Trade payables 1,681  514 

 Grants payable 23,626  24,015 

 Accrued Expenses 1,054  691 

 Accrued Salaries 1,145  750 

 Accrued Superannuation 84  67 

 Total Current 27,590  26,037 

Grants payable is recognised where contracts have been entered into with 
Departmental clients prior to June 30, but not paid. 
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Note 24. Provisions 
2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Current    

Employee benefits provision    

Annual leave 
(a)

 3,910  3,391 

Long service leave 
(b)

 4,011  3,594 

 7,921  6,985 

 

Other provisions    

Employment on-costs 
(c)

 755  664 

 8,676  7,649 

Non-current    

Employee benefits provision    

Long service leave 
(b)

 3,476  3,151 

 

Other provisions    

Employment on-costs 
(c)

 419  383 

 3,895  3,534 

(a)
 Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no 

unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after reporting 
period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as 
follows: 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 2,445  2,051 

More than 12 months after the reporting period 1,465  1,340 

 3,910  3,391 

(b)
 Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 

unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as 
follows: 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 2,704  2,469 

More than 12 months after the reporting period 4,782  4,276 

 7,486  6,745 

(c)
 The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the 

payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. 
The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated 
expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in 
note 10 ‘Other expenses’.' 

Movement in Other Provisions 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial 
year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:   

Employment on-cost provision    

Carrying amount at start of year 1,047  773 

Additional provisions recognised 127  274 

Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits -  - 

Unwinding of the discount -  - 

Carrying amount at end of year 1,174  1,047 
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Note 25. Other liabilities 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Current    

Grant Received in advance 0  280 

Unclaimed monies 2  2 

Other 1  3 

Total Current 3  285 

 

Note 26. Equity 
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. The 
Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the 
community. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity 
resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets. 

Contributed equity 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 

Balance at start of period 100,231  103,130 

 

Contributions by owners    

 

Capital appropriation  13,468  1,541 

Transfer from Agencies 2,575  - 

Total contribution by owners 16,043  1,541 

 

Distributions to owners    

Transfer of assets to other agencies    

Book Purchase Program transferred to the State 
Library of Western Australia -  (4,355) 

Other transfers (IT transfer to the State Library of 
Western Australia) -  (85) 

Transfer to Perth Theatre Trust (113,222)  - 

Other transfers   (2,177)  - 

Total distributions to owners (115,399)  (4,440) 

 

Balance at end of period 875  100,231 
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Reserves 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Asset revaluation surplus    

Balance at start of year 41,737  37,511 

Net revaluation increments/(decrements):    

  Land 1,210  (490) 

  Buildings (617)  4,682 

  Art Collection -  34 

Net revaluation for the year 593  4,226 

 

Balance at end of year 42,330  41,737 

 

Accumulated (deficit)    

 

Balance at start of year (3,352)  (7,106) 

Result for the period 3,962  3,754 

Balance at end of year 610  (3,352) 

Note 27. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 

Reconciliation of cash 

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Cash and cash equivalents 20,231  20,002 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 16 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents) 1,350  935 

 21,581  20,937 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows 
used in operating activities 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Net cost of services (87,938)  (85,721) 

Non-cash items:    

Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 7) 1,005  1,011 

Resources received free of charge (note 15) 142  132 

(Increase)/decrease in assets:    

Current receivables 1,701  (4,020) 

Other current assets 127  (152) 

Non current receivables 30  (15) 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities: 

Current payables 1,566  (3,751) 

Current provisions 1,027  1,508 

Non-current provisions 361  278 

Other Current Liabilities (282)  284 

Net GST receipts/(payments)
 (a)

 125  (455) 

Net cash used in operating activities (82,136)  (90,901) 

 (a) 
This is the net GST paid/received, ie cash transactions 

At the reporting period, the Department had fully drawn on all financing facilities, 
details of which are disclosed in the financial statements. 
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Note 28. Resources provided free of charge 
2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

During the year the following resources were provided to other agencies free of 
charge.   

 Art Gallery of WA 3,886  3,778 

 Library and Information Services of WA 13,204  12,766 

 Perth Theatre Trust 3,214  2,542 

 ScreenWest 1,105  907 

 Western Australian Museum
 (a)

 17,810  14,843 

  39,219  34,836 

(a) 
Included in the $17.8m of resources provided free of charge to the Western 

Australian Museum is an amount of $2.3m spent on demolition of the Francis 
Street Museum building and a further $0.4m spent on the preparation of a 
business case for a New Museum. 

Note 29. Commitments 

Lease Commitments 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period  
but not recognised in the financial statements are payable as follows: 

Within 1 year 2,285  1,170 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 7,811  706 

 10,096  1,876 

Representing:    

Cancellable operating leases -  - 

Non-cancellable operating leases 10,096  1,876 

 10,096  1,876 

 

Non cancellable operating lease commitments 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows: 

Within 1 year 2,285  1,170 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 7,811  706 

 10,096  1,876 

 

The Department has entered into a property lease which is a non-cancellable 
lease with a five year term, with rent payable monthly in advance.  Contingent 
rent provisions within the lease agreement require that the minimum lease 
payments shall be increased by the lower of CPI or 4% per annum. The 
department has no official commitment after 31 January 2012. 

Other expenditure commitments 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

 

Grant commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting 
period but not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows. 23,439  4,318 

Within 1 year 23,439  4,318 

These commitments are all inclusive of GST. 

Note 30. Contingent liabilities 
Apart from to the liabilities included in the financial statements, the Department is 
not aware of any contingent liability existing as at 30th June 2011: 

Note 31. Events occurring after the end of the 
reporting period 
The Department is not aware of any event occurring after balance sheet date 
that would materially affect the financial statements. 
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Note 32. Explanatory statement 
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and 
expense as presented in the financial statement titled ‘Summary of Consolidated 
Account Appropriations and Income Estimates’ are shown below.  Significant 
variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $1 million. 

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 

Significant variances between actual results for 2010 and 2011 

2011 2010 Variance 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Arts Industry Support 34,256 39,496 (5,240) 

 

The decrease was attributed to the reduction in grant funding for the WA Ballet 
relocation and several Arts Funding projects. 

Significant variances between actuals for 2010 and 2011 - Total appropriation 
provided to deliver services: 

2011 2010 Variance  

$'000 $'000 $'000  

     

Total appropriation provided to deliver services 
for the year 91,744 89,411 2,333 

(a)
 

Total Income 3,583 2,270 1,313 
(b)

 

(a) 
There was an increased level of funding for the Museum demolition project 

partly offset by the reduction in funding for several Arts Funding projects. 

(b) 
The increase in revenue received this year is due to a one-off grants for 

Commonwealth Heads of Government Meeting. 

Service Expenditure 

Significant variances between actual results for 2010 and 2011 

2011 2010 Variance  

$'000 $'000 $'000  

     

Arts Industry Support 34,256 39,496 (5,240) 
(c)

 

Services provided to external agencies 54,498 45,780 8,718 
(d)

 

(c)  
The variance in Arts Industry Support expenditure is due to a decrease in 

funding paid to the various grants recipients. This includes the Arts Funding 
package which has permitted several one-off projects to be initiated. 

(d)  
A large contributor to this increase relates to 'Grants and Subsidies' paid out 

to agencies for capital projects as well as an increase in the provision of supplies 
and services. 

Significant variances between actual results for 2010 and 2011 

2011 2010 Variance 

$'000 $'000 $'000 

    

Capital Contribution 11,563 1,541 10,022 

The increase is due to funding for the State Theatre Centre and Art Gallery 
façade maintenance project. 

Note 33. Financial instruments 

 (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

Financial Instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, 
restricted cash and cash equivalents, borrowings, finance lease. Treasurer's 
advances, loans and receivables, and payables. The Department has limited 
exposure to financial risks.  The Department's overall risk management program 
focuses on managing the risks identified below. 
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Credit risk 

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department's receivables 
defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Department. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation 
to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of 
those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment, as shown in the table at 
Note 33(c) 'Financial Instruments Disclosures' and Note 17 'Receivables'. 

Credit risk associated with the Department's financial assets is minimal because 
the main receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For 
receivables other than government, the Department trades only with recognised, 
creditworthy third parties.  The Department has policies in place to ensure that 
sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit 
history.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with 
the result that the Department's exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of 
the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. 

Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective 
experience such as observable data in client credit ratings. For financial assets 
that are either past due or impaired, refer to Note 17 Receivables. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due.  

The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal 
course of business. 

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including 
drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that 
sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments. 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange 
rates and interest rates will affect the Department’s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments. 

The Department does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed 
to other price risks. The Department is not exposure to market risk for changes in 
interest rates as all cash, restricted cash and cash equivalents are non-interest 
bearing and the department has no borrowings. 

(b) Categories of financial instruments 

In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the carrying amounts of each of the 
following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are as follows 

2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 20,231  20,002 

Restricted Cash and cash equivalents 1,350  935 

Loans and receivables(a) 5,875  5,697 

    

Financial Liabilities 

Financial Liabilities measured at amortised cost 27,590  26,037 

(a)
 The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO 

(statutory receivable). 
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 (c) Financial Instrument Disclosures 

Credit Risk and Interest Rate Risk Exposures 

The following tables disclose the Department's maximum exposure to credit risk, interest rate exposures and ageing analysis of financial assets. The Department's 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date is the carrying amount of the financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial 
assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Department. 

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds. 

The Department does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise resulted in them being past due or impaired. 

Interest rate exposures and ageing analysis of financial assets (a) 

  Interest Rate Exposure Past Due but not impaired  
Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 

Variable 
Interest 

Rate 

Non –
interest 
bearing 

Up to 3 
months 

3-12 
months 

1-2 
years 

2-5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Impaired 
financial 
assets 

 

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Financial Assets              

2011   

Cash and cash equivalents - 20,231 - - 20,231 - - - - - - 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents - 1,350 - - 1,350 - - - - - - 

Receivables 
(a)

 - 3,287 - - 3,287 348 108 32 - - 12 

Amounts receivable for services - 2,588 - - 2,588 - - - - - - 

  27,456 - - 27,456 348 108 32 - - 12 

2010   

Cash and cash equivalents - 20,002 - - 20,002 - - - - - - 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents - 935 - - 935 - - - - - - 

Receivables 
(a)

 - 4,789 - - - 866 13 14 - - - 

Amounts receivable for services - 3,317 - - 3,317 - - - - - - 

  29,043 - - 29,043 866 13 14 - - - 

(a) 
The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Liquidity Risk 

The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. The contractual maturity amounts are representative of the undiscounted amounts at 
the end of reporting period. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. An adjustment has been made where material. 

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial liabilities 

Interest Rate Exposure Maturity dates 

Weighted 

Average 

Effective 

Interest  

Rate 

Carrying  

Amount 

Variable 

interest 

rate 

Non- 

Interest 

bearing 

Adjust- 

ment for 

discounting 

Total 

Nominal 

Amount 

  

Up to 3 

months 

3-12 

months 

1-2 

Years 

2-5 

Years 

More 

than 5 

years 

 %  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial Liabilities               

2011 
 

Accounts payable   - 3,964 - 3,964 - - - - - - - 

Grants payable   - 23,626 - 23,626 - - - - - - - 

     27,590 - 27,590 - - - - - - - 

2010  

Accounts payable   - 2,022 - 2,022 - - - - - - - 

Grants payable   - 24,015 - 24,015 - - - - - - - 

     26,037 - 26,037 - - - - - - - 

 

The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities. 
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the 
Department's financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on 
the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is 
assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the 
reporting period. 

-100 basis points 
+100 basis 

points 

2011 

Carrying 

Amount 

$’000 

Surplus 

$’000 

Equity 

$’000 

Surplus 

$’000 

Equity 

$’000 

 

Financial assets      

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 1,350 (14) (14) 14 14 

Financial Liabilities 

      

Accounts payable 3,964 (40) (40) 40 40 

Total Increase/(Decrease)  (54) (54) 54 54 

 

-100 basis points 
+100 basis 

points 

2010 

Carrying 

Amount 

$’000 

Surplus 

$’000 

Equity 

$’000 

Surplus 

$’000 

Equity 

$’000 

Financial assets      

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 935 (9) (9) 9 9 

Financial Liabilities      

Accounts payable 2,022 (20) (20) 20 20 

Total Increase/(Decrease)  (29) (29) 29 29 

 

Fair Values 

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, 
whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that 
represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the 
applicable notes. 

Note 34. Remuneration of senior officers 
The number of senior officers, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, 
non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within the 
following bands are: 

$ 2011  2010 

130,001 - 140,000 1  - 

140,001 - 150,000 -  1 

150,001 - 160,000 -  1 

160,001 - 170,000 1  1 

170,001 - 180,000 -  - 

180,001 - 190,000 1   

210,001 - 220,000 -  1 

260,001 - 270,000 1  - 

Total remuneration of senior officers  750,000  686,000 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the 
Department in respect of senior officers.  No senior officers are members of the 
Pension Scheme. 

Note 35. Remuneration of auditor 
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current 
financial year is as follows: 

 2011  2010 

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance 
indicators 58  63 

The expense is included in note 10 'Other Expenses’ 
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Note 36. Related bodies 
The Department has no related bodies. 

Note 37. Affiliated bodies 
The Department provides grants to non-government affiliated bodies for 
administrative support.  In accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 951, the 
details of financial assistance provided to the non-government affiliated bodies 
are shown in the table below.  A full list showing details of all grants provided to 
non-government bodies has been included in the grants lists attached to and 
forming part of the annual report. 

 2011 2010 

Affiliated Body $ $ 

Australian Dance Council 412 - 

Barking Gecko Theatre - 400 

International Art Space Kellerberrin 218 - 

PICA 379 - 

WA Playwrights Consortium 74 72 

WA Youth Theatre Company 75 75 

Writing WA 141 - 

 1,299 547 

Note 38. Special purpose accounts 

Special Purpose Account - section 16(1)(b) of FMA 

Arts Lotteries Trust Account 

This Trust Account was established to account for funds received from the 
Lotteries Commission pursuant to sections 22(2)(d) of the Lotteries Commission 
Act 1990.  Payments are made in such proportion and among such bodies 
engaged in the conduct of cultural activities, and persons engaged in cultural 
activities in the State, as the Minister for the Arts thinks fit. 

 

 2011  2010 

 $'000  $'000 

Balance at the start of the year -  - 

Receipts 13,000  13,500 

Payments (13,000)  (13,500) 

Balance at the end of the year -  - 

Note 39. Supplementary financial information 
(a) Write-offs 

During the financial year $0 (2010: $0) in bad debts was written off. 

There was no asset, public or other property written off during the financial year. 

(b) Loss through theft, defaults and other causes 

There were no losses through theft, defaults and other causes. 

(c) Gifts of public property 

There were no gifts of public property provided by the Department. 

Note 40. Service Delivery Arrangement - 
Commonwealth Grant 
The Department of Culture and the Arts and the Commonwealth Government 
have entered into a Service Delivery Arrangement for the provision of services to 
the Indian Ocean Territories (Christmas and Cocos [Keeling] Islands).  The 
Commonwealth Government reimburses the Department any costs incurred in 
association with these services, as detailed below: 

 2011  2010 

 $’000  $’000 

Balance at the start of the year 83  154 

Receipts 380  66 

Payments (149)  (137) 

Balance at the end of the year 314  83 
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APPENDIX A APPENDIX A APPENDIX A APPENDIX A –––– PROFILE OF SENIOR EXECUTIVE TEAM PROFILE OF SENIOR EXECUTIVE TEAM PROFILE OF SENIOR EXECUTIVE TEAM PROFILE OF SENIOR EXECUTIVE TEAM    

Allanah LucasAllanah LucasAllanah LucasAllanah Lucas    

Director General  -  MA Dip Ed 

Allanah Lucas has worked in the Australian and United Kingdom arts 
sectors for more than 25 years as a professional CEO and arts 
administrator, performing arts producer, presenter and practitioner, 
researcher, consultant and tutor – bringing a diversity and depth of 
experience to her role as Director General.   

Since joining the Culture and Arts Portfolio in 2000 as Director of 
ArtsWA, she has held the positions of Acting Chief Executive Officer 
of the WA Museum (2004) and Executive Director of the Culture and 
Arts Development directorate (2005). She was appointed Director 
General in 2008.    

As Director General, Allanah is an ex-officio member of the five 
boards in the Culture and Arts Portfolio.  She is also on the Advisory 
Board of The University of Western Australia’s Arts, Humanities and 
Social Sciences Faculty.  

Allanah is an Executive Fellow of the Australian and New Zealand 
School of Government. 

Jacqui AllenJacqui AllenJacqui AllenJacqui Allen    

Deputy Director General, Development and Strategy Directorate  
BA (Arts Management); P Grad Dip Bus (Mkting); EMPA 

Jacqui Allen was appointed to the role of Deputy Director General in 
March 2009.  Prior to joining the Department in 1998, she worked in 
the arts sector and for six years managed the Performing Arts 

Touring Program for Country Arts WA.   She was also employed in 
both the Court and Gallop Governments as a Principal Arts Policy 
Advisor before returning to the Department in 2004.   Since returning 
she has fulfilled roles in the Capital Works and Arts Funding and 
Policy areas of the Department. 

Eric IsailovicEric IsailovicEric IsailovicEric Isailovic    

Executive Director, General Operations 

Eric Isailovic was appointed Executive Director in April 2008, having 
worked for more than 25 years in senior corporate and operational 
management roles in government at both State and Federal levels.  
His sector experience includes the public transport and law 
enforcement domains as well as culture and the arts. He also worked 
for five years as a successful small business operator in the food 
manufacture and retail sector. 

Cathrin CassarchisCathrin CassarchisCathrin CassarchisCathrin Cassarchis    

State Archivist and Executive Director, State Records Office of 
Western Australia 

Cathrin Cassarchis was appointed to the position of Director in 
March 2008. Her background in the archive sector includes her role 
as Head of Public Affairs for The National Archives in the United 
Kingdom and, prior to that, as funding consultant to the National 
Council on Archives’ (UK). Most recently Cathrin held the position of 
Director of the WA Museum Foundation, where she was responsible 
for fundraising, strategy and policy development, negotiation and 
facilitation and the achievement of corporate targets and objectives 


